CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE

Faculty of Tropical Agrisciences



Antioxidant activity of various fractions of subcritical water extracts obtained from tea and tealike plants

MASTER'S THESIS

Prague 2024

Author: Bc. Asad Walayat

Supervisor: Ing. Johana Rondevaldová, Ph.D.

Declaration

I hereby declare that I have done this thesis entitled "Antioxidant activity of various fractions of subcritical water extracts obtained from tea and tea-like plants" independently, all texts in this thesis are original, and all the sources have been quoted and acknowledged by means of complete references and according to Citation rules of the FTA.

In Prag	gue 24 th	e 24 th April 2024		
	•••••			
В	c Asa	d Wala	vat	

Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor Ing. Johana Rondevaldová, Ph.D. from the Department of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague for her professional and thoughtful advice, patience, and time. I would also like to thank prof. Ing. Ladislav Kokoška, Ph.D. for his helpful consultations, and especially thanks to Ing. Kateřina Berková for her assistance and advice during the experimental work. I am also grateful to the Internal Grant Agency of the Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences (IGA 20233109) for their financial support to conduct this research. My thanks also go to my family and loved ones who always supported me.

Abstract

Oxidative stress is caused by an imbalance in accumulation and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in living cells and the biological systems ability to destroy the reactive products. Tea (Camellia sinensis) belongs to family Theaceae and is the most widely used beverage globally following only fresh water. This contains considerable amount of antioxidants, particularly the phenols that are commonly known to have the ability to lower the risk of the development of some serious diseases. Yerba mate (Ilex paraguariensis) is traditionally used tea-like beverage, and its leaves contain antioxidants while the extracts and isolated compounds from yerba mate showed pharmacological properties. The bioactive compounds are extracted from tea and tea-like plants to produce value added products by various extraction method in which different solvents are used. Previously, different antioxidant compounds from plant extracts were obtained by environmentally non-friendly, time taking, and inefficient methods. The green extraction techniques use less hazardous chemical, safer solvents, reduce time analysis, and prevent pollution. Subcritical water extraction (SWE) is a greener and faster method for the extraction of antioxidant compounds by using only water (solvent). In our study, antioxidant activity and total phenolic content (TPC) of different SWE fractions (1st 2min, 2nd 2min, 3rd 2min, 4th 2min, and 5th 2min; 1st 5min and 2nd 5min, and 10min) and water infusion (WI 10min) of green tea, black tea, and mate extracts were evaluated and compared. Their antioxidant activity was evaluated by DPPH and ORAC method while TPC was determined by Folin-Ciocalteu assay. Overall, in our results ORAC assay showed strongest antioxidant activity in *I. paraguariensis* – mate, SWE 3rd 2min fraction with the lowest IC₅₀ of 5.55 µg/mL among all cases. In C. sinensis – green tea, SWE 2nd 5min fraction showed strongest antioxidant activity with the IC₅₀ 9.73 μg/mL determined by DPPH method and highest TPC 778.53 mg GAE/g among tested species. This study proved that SWE is an effective method for the extraction of important bioactive compounds, but its extraction efficiency is affected by extraction time. Moreover, effectiveness depends on plant species, as the most active fractions differ between C. sinensis (SWE 2nd 5min fraction) and I. paraguariensis (SWE 3rd 2min fraction). Thus, the extraction parameters should be optimized according to evaluated species.

Key words: *Aquifoliaceae*, antioxidants, fractionation, non-conventional extraction method, tea plant

Contents

1.	Introd	luction	1
2.	Litera	ture review	3
2	2.1. O	Oxidative stress	3
	2.1.1.	Free radicals	3
	2.1.2.	Reactive oxygen species (ROS)	3
	2.1.3.	Reactive nitrogen species (RNS)	4
	2.1.4.	Reactive sulphur species (RSS)	4
2	2.2. A	antioxidants	5
	2.2.1.	Endogenous and exogenous antioxidants	5
	2.2.2.	Primary x secondary x tertiary antioxidants	5
	2.2.3.	Antioxidant potential in humans	6
	2.2.4.	Plant-based antioxidants	7
2	2.3. T	ea and tea-like plants	12
	2.3.1.	Water infusion	14
	2.3.2.	Camellia sinensis (L.) Kuntze	15
	2.3.3.	Camellia sinensis var. assamica	17
	2.3.4.	Ilex paraguariensis A. St. Hil	18
2.	4. Extr	raction methods	19
	2.4.1.	Microwave extraction (MAE)	20
	2.4.2.	Subcritical Water Extraction	21
3.	Hypot	thesis	23
4.	Metho	ods	24
۷	1.1. P	lant material	24
_	1.2. P	reparation of Extracts	24
	4.2.1.	Subcritical water extracts	
	4.2.2.	Water infusion	24
4	1.3. C	Chemicals	26
_	14 F	valuation of Antioxidant activity	26

	4.4.1.	DPPH	. 26
	4.4.2.	ORAC	. 26
	4.4.3.	TPC	. 27
	4.4.4.	Statistical analysis	. 27
5.	Result	S	. 29
4	5.1. OR <i>A</i>	AC	29
5	.2. DPF	PH	33
5	.3. TPC	,	.36
5	.4. Pear	son product moment correlation	39
6.	Discus	sion	. 40
7.	Conclu	ısions	.43
8.	Refere	ences	. 44

List of tables

Γable 1: Extraction yields	.25
Table 2: Antioxidant activity of various fractions of SWE and WI of tea and tea-like plant	t by
ORAC method.	.32
Table 3: Antioxidant activity of various fractions of SWE and WI of tea and tea-like plant	t by
DPPH method.	.35
Table 4: Total phenolic content of various fractions of SWE and WI of tea and tea-like p	lant
	.38
List of figures	
Figure 1: Camellia sinensis (L.) kuntze	
Figure 2: <i>Ilex paraguariensis</i> A.St. Hil	

List of abbreviations

•O₂ superoxide radical

*OH hydroxyl radical

¹O₂ singlet oxygen

Chl³ chloroplast translational initiation factor 3

DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid

DPPH 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl

EGCG epigallocatechin-3-gallate

GAE Gallic acid equivalents

GSH Glutathione

H₂O₂ hydrogen peroxide

H₂S Hydrogen sulfide

HNO₂ nitrous acid

IC₅₀ Half-maximal inhibitory concentration

min minute

N₂O₄ dinitrogen tetroxide

NAC N-acetylcysteine

NADPH Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate

NO· Nitric oxide

NO₂. Nitric dioxide

ORAC Oxygen radical absorbance capacity

RNA Ribonucleic acid

RNS Reactive Nitrogen Species

ROS Reactive Oxygen Species

RS Reactive species

RSS Reactive Sulphur Species

SD Standard deviation

SWE Subcritical water extraction

TPC Total phenolic content

WI Water infusion

1. Introduction

Tea (*Camellia sinensis* L.) is an ancient crop belonging to the *Theaceae* family. This evergreen plant originates from south-eastern China and is widely distributed in tropical and subtropical countries of the world (Paiva et al. 2021). It is the most popular and oldest non-alcoholic beverage having a unique flavor with some health benefits (Xu et al. 2017). The global average consumption of this healthy drink is about 120 mL per day per person (Gardner et al. 2007).

The daily drinking of tea significantly reduces the body fat, risk of dying from chronic diseases, preventing the cancer, improves the insulin sensitivity and oral health, boost fertility, modify gut bacteria and lower the risk of neurodegenerative diseases due to the consumption of alcohol and tobacco (Liu et al. 2021). It contains substantial amounts of bioactive phenolic compounds such as catechins, theaflavins, flavonols and flavones (Monobe et al. 2015).

Antioxidants are compounds that prevent the formation of free radicals. Natural antioxidants are compounds derivatives of flavonoids, phenols, ascorbic acid, coumarin, hydroxycinnamic, dihydroflavone, tocopherol, and catechin that are commonly found in the fruits, grains, and vegetables (Dalimartha 1999). Degenerative diseases and cancer can be inhibited when antioxidants in the body acts as neutralizing free radicals (Poumorad et al. 2006). Natural products that can be used as antioxidants is green tea leaves and their antioxidant activity is associated with polyphenolic compounds especially flavonoid groups (Forester & Joshua 2011). Tea polyphenols are the effective antioxidants that can prevent and treat the diseases by scavenging free radicals and regulating the activity of different types of oxidases in the body. This is due to the active hydrogen ions that neutralizes the free radicals and other reactive oxygen species by scavenging the free radicals (Zuo et al. 2018).

There has been an increasing trend to extract the bioactive compounds from tea to produce value added products by using a variety of solvents for extraction. Cold brewing of tea has also gained popularity due to increased consumer acceptance. Water is a traditional solvent used to extract polyphenols from green and black teas (Perva-Uzunalic et al. 2006). The extraction efficiency of bioactive compounds is influenced by the polarity of the solvent and applied processing techniques for extraction (Zuo et al. 2002). Processing conditions such as tea to solvent ratio, particle size, agitation rate, and time/temperature have a significant effect

on the extraction of bioactive compounds (Rostami & Gharibzahedi 2017). The extraction of tea polyphenols and caffeine from green tea leaves were done by the microwave-assisted extraction method (Pan et al. 2003). Polyphenols and caffeine can be extracted using conventional and novel extraction methods (Farhoosh et al. 2007). Subcritical water is a newer and a greener method of extraction by keeping liquid water below its critical point and high pressure than the vapor pressure to keep the water in the liquid state. An increase in temperature improves the diffusion of the subcritical water, while the viscosity, dielectric constant, and surface tension decrease. Subcritical water extraction involves high extraction and modification efficiency with no residue, and is highly environmentaly friendly technique (Basak & Annapure 2022).

2. Literature review

2.1. Oxidative stress

Reactive species (RS) include reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen species (RNS), reactive sulphur species (RSS) and various free radicals having the potential to cause oxidative stress (Mittler 2002). Oxidative stress is a disruption of the redox equilibrium resulting from increased ROS production in the cell. This stress causes imbalance in antioxidants and oxidants that interrupts the redox signalling causing molecular damages (Sies 2018). Increased oxidative stress is a major causative factor of several life-threatening diseases, including neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases (Kasote et al. 2013).

2.1.1. Free radicals

Free radicals and oxygen derivatives are biological redox reactions by-products that are produced by aerobic metabolism in plants (Sharma et al. 2012). They got oxidized after combing with oxygen containing substances and steals surrounding electrons to harm the host entity (Wojtunik-Kulesza et al. 2016).

Free radicals are biochemical responses in the body which promotes cancer, ischemic heart disease, inflammation, diabetes, aging, atherosclerosis, immunosuppression, and neurodegenerative disorders (Li et al. 2015). They cause the degenerative diseases which affect neurons and nerve bundles. They play a role in regulation of various physiological functions, such as host defense, cellular signalling, regulation of gene expression of the human metabolic processes and immune system (Chen et al. 2017; Lushchak 2013). The free radical production become smaller and antioxidant capacity sufficiently maintain the redox homeostasis under normal physiological situations (Breusegem & Dat 2006).

2.1.2. Reactive oxygen species (ROS)

Stress whether biotic or abiotic, causes shift in metabolism resulting in a temporary ROS accumulation. ROS are often potent chemical messengers that trigger cellular stress responses (Choudhury et al. 2017; Farooq et al. 2019). They play an important role in signal transduction, in normal plant growth and can also induce cellular damage to prevent oxidative stress (Cuypers et al. 2016; Hu et al. 2020). They are mainly present in mitochondria, peroxisomes, chloroplasts, plasma membranes, endoplasmic reticulum, and apoplast (Sharma

et al. 2019). The ROS family mainly includes the free radicals such as ${}^{\bullet}O_2$, ${}^{\bullet}OH$ and non-radicals such as ${}^{1}O_2$ and H_2O_2 (Das & Roychoudhury 2014).

External factors such as diet, radiation, pollutants, and lifestyle can increase ROS production (Tripathi et al. 2022) that alter various cellular components such as oxidation of DNA and RNA, and biomolecules like lipid, pigments, carbohydrates, and protein leading to related signalling pathways (Bhattacharya et al. 2014; Gill & Tuteja 2010). ROS production can cause cancer, damage the liver and intestines, and even affect the human life span (Kim & Sieburth 2018).

2.1.3. Reactive nitrogen species (RNS)

RNS are important signalling molecules that regulates a wide range of phenomenon including solute transport, programmed cell death, abiotic and biotic stress response, growth and development in plants (Foyer & Noctor 2015). These species include radicals like NO• (nitric oxide) and NO₂. (Nitric dioxide), while non-radicals are HNO₂ (nitrous acid) and N₂O₄ (dinitrogen tetroxide) (Khan et al. 2014). These regulate several physiological processes including production, movement, differentiation, hypertrophy, cytoskeletal dynamics, and metabolism, while their excess availability causes their reaction with biomolecules (lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids) resulting in dysfunctional tissue by alter the functional and structural properties of target molecules. RNS are involved in the development of many cardiovascular diseases like hypertension, heart failure, atherosclerosis, and renal complications of diabetes mellitus (Griendling et al. 2016).

2.1.4. Reactive sulphur species (RSS)

RSS are redox-active sulphur containing molecules that can either oxidize or reduce biomolecules under physiological conditions (Gruhlke & Slusarenko 2012). These species include disulphide-S-oxides, sulfonic acids, and thiol radicals (Giles 2001). They have higher nucleophilicity and strong antioxidant activity (Ida et al. 2014). They interact with NO, ROS, and H₂S that can function in collaboration with these molecules in plants (Olson 2019). They are considered potent signalling molecules involved in the regulation of cell function. Under stress conditions, the antioxidant machinery maintains a balance in biosynthesis of reactive species and their transport to scavenge the whole metabolism for the survival of plant (Alvi et al. 2023).

2.2. Antioxidants

Antioxidants are the substances that contain pharmacologically active phytochemicals responsible to delay oxidation processes under some cellular pathological conditions (Ji et al. 2020). Exogenously application of antioxidants diminishes reactive oxygen signals and improve the plant growth under multiple stresses (Das & Roychoudhury 2014). Their exogenous application is a favourable method of disputing the harmful consequence of oxidative stress (Kasote et al. 2013). To avoid the interface between radicals and biological molecules, antioxidants should be close to the radical formation place competing the free radical for the biological substrate (Arora et al. 2002). Antioxidants can be produced in vivo e.g. reduced glutathione, superoxide dismutase etc. and can be taken as dietary antioxidants (Halliwel 2007).

2.2.1. Endogenous and exogenous antioxidants

Endogenous and exogenous antioxidants are a part of dietary supplement. Endogenous antioxidants are produced by the human body to prevent the formation of excess free radicals (Mironczuk-Chodakowska et al. 2018). The exogenous (i.e., dietary) antioxidants are mostly obtained from fruits, vegetables, flowers, mushrooms, cereals, drinks, and medicinal herbs (Deng et al. 2013; Li et al. 2016). Exogenous antioxidants contain a wide range of natural and synthetic substances such as vitamin C (in many fruits and vegetables), carotenoids (that the body converts them to the vitamin A for the maintenance of the epithelial retinal pigment in the eye), polyphenols (prevents lipid oxidation), and anthocyanins pigments present in red, blue, and purple fruits and vegetables (Rammohan et al. 2023). The consumption of exogenous antioxidants can increase the body protection and endogenous antioxidants aid in combating diseases (Carlsen et al. 2010).

2.2.2. Primary x secondary x tertiary antioxidants

Antioxidants can be classified into three groups on the basis of their mechanism:

Primary antioxidants function to terminate free radical by following these mechanisms. Firstly, they accept the free radicals to delay the initiation step. Secondly, they interact with peroxy radicals and convert them into stable compound to disrupt the propagation step. The addition of these antioxidants at the initial step of the auto-oxidation process is very useful. Primary antioxidants includes butylated hydroxy anisole, tertiary butylhydroquinone,

propyl gallate, butylated hydroxytoluene, tocopherols, flavonoids and carotenoids (Garg et al. 2022).

Secondary antioxidants are important preventive antioxidants that retard chain initiation and prevent auto-oxidation through hindering ROS production responsible for oxidation initiation, transition metals chelation, UV filtration, singlet oxygen deactivation, and inhibiting antioxidant enzyme cofactor. Moreover, they also act as oxygen scavengers and reducing agents which can decompose hydroperoxides into non-radical species. Secondary antioxidants are ascorbyl palmitate, citric acid, tartaric acid, ascorbic acid and lecithin (Garg et al. 2022).

Tertiary antioxidants are responsible for the repairing of oxidized molecules, and their function takes place (some enzymes of DNA, proteolytic enzymes, etc.) through dietary antioxidants (Liu 2021).

2.2.3. Antioxidant potential in humans

Antioxidant system in human body is responsible for the free radicals scavenging. However, excessive ROS and RNS can inhibit this due to the contact with cigarette smoking, radiation, alcohol, and environmental toxins (Li et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2016) that disturbs the oxidation and anti-oxidation balance resulting in diseases (Zhou et al. 2016). In biological system, DNA can be damage by superoxide, hydroxyl, and nitric oxide radicals which cause the oxidation of lipid and proteins (Peng et al. 2014). Exogenous antioxidants intake increment would inhibit the initiation or propagation of oxidative chain reaction by acting as free radical scavengers, quenchers of singlet oxygen and reducing agents to lessen the damage caused under oxidative stress (Baiano & Nobile 2015).

In the human body, there is an efficient antioxidant defense system to maintain a balance between oxidative stress and free radical formation following the enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses (Carocho & Ferreira 2013). Antioxidants are involved in the prevention and cure of non-infectious diseases including cardiovascular, neurodegenerative diseases, inflammatory cancer and metabolic syndrome (Cassidy et al. 2020). The plant-derived antioxidants scavenge free radicals to reduce the damage of nerve cells and protect the nervous system under oxidative stress. Antioxidants i.e. polyphenols, vitamins, alkaloids, polysaccharides, and active peptides maintain the structure and function of neurons to extend their healthy condition (Del Rio 2015).

2.2.4. Plant-based antioxidants

Antioxidant potential of the plant extract depends on the phenolic compounds and flavonoids to reduce the oxidative stress (Jain et al. 2011). The activity and production of plant antioxidants are increased to prevent oxidative damage due to increased ROS accumulation in stress conditions. Major plant antioxidants are secondary metabolites of the shikimic acid pathway and phenyl-propanoid metabolism that includes phenolics, coumarins, tannins, chalcone and flavonoids (Sharma & Kumar 2011). It is said that two-thirds of the world's medicinal plant species have abundant antioxidant potential (Krishnaiah et al. 2011).

To prevent the harmful effects of free radicals, plants have effective complex enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defense system. Enzymatic systems include superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase and glutathione reductase whereas non-enzymatic systems include low molecular weight antioxidants (ascorbic acid, glutathione, proline, carotenoids, phenolic acids, flavonoids, etc.) and high molecular weight secondary metabolites such as tannins (Chanda et al. 2009). Ascorbate and glutathione are the major water-soluble antioxidant metabolites while polyphenols, flavonoids and terpenoids are secondary metabolites that detoxifies the ROS under various environmental stresses (Hashim et al. 2020; Nadarajah 2020).

Plants synthesize low molecular weight antioxidants in the chloroplast stroma and cytosol using NADPH as the electron donor (Alscher et al. 1997). These low molecular weight antioxidants interrelate with different cellular components to function as redox buffers, and effects the plant growth by controlling processes from cell division to senescence and death (Foyer 2005). The antioxidants and secondary metabolites production is affected by environmental factors that ultimately influence the plant's medicinal and nutritional importance (Lin et al. 2016; Scarano et al. 2018).

Allantoin is a nitrogen-rich compound produced in peroxisomes during purine breakdown that directly reacts with H₂O₂ (Lamberto et al. 2010). It is also called 5-ureidohydantoin or glyoxyldiureide that is a pharmacologically active (Fu et al. 2006; Tolun et al. 2010). It is significant in nitrogen metabolism for plant growth and development (Kim et al. 2009). It appears to have protective effects in plants through activation of antioxidant enzymes (Nourimand & Todd 2016). ROS play role in the formation of allantoin from uric acid during increased oxidative stress and is the major product of free radical-induced oxidation of uric acid as well as a biomarker of oxidative stress (Zitnanova et al. 2004).

Alkaloids are considered the strong antioxidants that have a complex structure; with more nitrogen atoms present in the heterocyclic structure, making easy to react with free radicals and reactive oxygen. Many naturally occurring plant derived alkaloids are used in the development of useful pharmaceutical products (Khadem & Marles 2012). The astragalus alkaloid and its derivatives are commonly present in food such as coffee, tea, and potatoes (Monteiro et al. 2016).

Amino acids are known to be antioxidant in oils and fats and are also naturally present in proteins (et al. 2003). They have important roles in mineral nutrition, signalling, and plants redox homeostasis modulation (Hildebrandt et al. 2015). In exogenous application, certain amino acids resist many stresses, such as water stress, heavy metals, and salinity in various plant species (De Queiroz et al. 2023). Sulphur containing amino acids can remove ROS and can reduce cell damage caused by oxidative stress. The antioxidant abilities of amino acids are useful in the food industry to prolong shelf-life of food and food products (Moskovitz 2005). Cysteine only has a thiol group among sulphur containing amino acids and is involved in oxidation-reduction reaction. It has antioxidant abilities such as metal chelating and free radical scavenging ability to quench singlet oxygen (Choe & Min 2009). The metal chelation activity of sulphur-containing amino acids could contribute to the excretion of toxic metal from the body by catalysing the hydroperoxides breakdown into free radicals (Decker et al. 2001; Flora et al. 2008).

Carotenoids are lipophilic antioxidants that are capable to detoxify various ROS and capture the lipid peroxyl radical to protect the membrane. They react with lipid peroxyl radical to form lipid hydroperoxide and carotenoid radical (Yachandra et al. 1996). They may capture ³Chl, and ¹O₂ to protect the photosynthetic machinery (Sharma et al. 2012). Their chemical structure is a polymer of 8 isoprene and an oxidized derivative, a precursor of vitamin A that are widely present in plant pigments. Its chemical structure contains several conjugated double bonds that maintains high chemical stability, inhibits lipid peroxidation, and scavenges free radicals (Kesse-Guyot et al. 2014). They are mostly found in fruits and vegetables, and act as antioxidants (Jomova & Valko 2013). They play role in photosynthesis and photoprotection and provide precursors for the formation of certain phytohormones and acts as signalling molecules in development of plant in responses to environmental stress (Nisar et al. 2015; Sun et al. 2018).

Glutathione (GSH) is a redox active molecule that is present in a reduced form and take part in biosynthetic pathways, antioxidant biochemistry, detoxification and redox homeostasis (Noctor et al. 2012). Reduced GSH is occurs naturally and have low molecular weight thiol tripeptide formed by glutamate, cysteine, and glycine (Gill et al. 2013). It has many functions, such as redox regulation, protection, growth and development, gene expression and protein activity, metabolism, the cell cycle and proliferation (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2017; Mhamdi et al. 2014). This also plays important role in regulation of sulphur transport, protein and nucleic acid synthesis, phytochelatin synthesis, xenobiotic purification, and genes expression responsible for stress (Bartoli et al. 2017). It is also used as coenzymes for some antioxidant enzymes and exogenous antioxidant application causes their accumulation (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2019).

N-acetylcysteine (NAC) is a precursor of GSH having antioxidant properties (Elbini Dhouib et al. 2016). It reduces the radicals such as nitrous dioxide and hypohalous acids due to its thiol group. NAC can also split intra-molecular and inter-molecular disulphide bonds in thiolate proteins to show its antioxidant effects by freeing thiols (Aldini et al. 2018). NAC increases the levels of GSH in cells and acts as a scavenger of oxidant species (Samuni et al. 2013). Their actions consist of restoring the antioxidant potential in cells by replacing the depletion of GSH by free radicals. NAC, as an anti-inflammatory compound, can control the release of cytokines in the immune proliferation early state (Omara et al. 1997).

Proline shows various activities in plants, such as an osmo-protectant for osmotic adjustment under salt, drought, and temperature stresses. It decreases the ROS production in thylakoids via quenching singlet oxygen and superoxide radicals. Proline cycle acts as a shuttle to transport redox couples from mitochondria to cytoplasm and back (Kavi Kishor et al. 2022). Proline, as an osmolyte is known as a strong antioxidant that is widely used as a non-enzymatic antioxidant to respond the harmful effects of different ROS species. It is synthesized using glutamic acid as a substrate, via a pyrroline 5-carboxylate intermediate. It is an active scavenger of OH* and ${}^{1}\text{O}_{2}$ that can hinder the harms (Verbruggen & Hermans 2008).

Thiamine is also known as vitamin B1 that is a co-enzyme with several nitrogen and sulphur-containing rings (Colinas & Fitzpatrick 2015). It acts as a chemical reluctant with ability of transporting 2 electrons and protons (Nga & Quang 2019). It might act as a potent antioxidant by scavenging free radicals to apoptotic inhibition (Vidhya et al. 2013). It can directly respond to ROS in the form of hydroxyl radicals and superoxide (Jung & Kim 2003). It exhibits suppressive effects on hydroperoxide generation in the auto-oxidation of linoleic acid (Okai et al. 2007). It plays a vital role in carbohydrate metabolism by participating in the pentose phosphate pathway and tricarboxylic acid cycle. It also increases antioxidant formation and NADPH levels (Hamano 1999). Thiamine diphosphate is a phosphate ester form of thiamine that exhibit coenzyme activity for oxidative decarboxylation of alpha-keto acids including pyruvate, alpha-ketoglutalate and branched chain amino acids (Cathcart & Thurnham 1998).

Vitamin C is also known as ascorbic acid, is one of the most well-known antioxidants, which has four hydroxyl functional groups, two of which are enol hydroxyl groups. It can be easily oxidized and dehydrogenated making it highly reductive and active antioxidant (Berger et al. 2003). It can easily donate electrons in enzymatic and non-enzymatic responses and is present in higher concentration (Das & Roychoudhury 2014). It is produced in aerobic metabolism, and then reacts rapidly with O^{2-•}, singlet oxygen and ozone (chemically), and H₂O₂ (enzymatically) through ascorbate peroxidase to nullify their poisonous effects. Their scavenging free radicals ability can reduce the degree of oxidative stress. It also helps to restore antioxidant pigments, carotenoids (carotenes and xanthophylls) and vitamin E (Ballaz & Rebec 2019).

Vitamin E (Tocopherols) are lipophilic antioxidants that are synthesized by photosynthetic organisms. These antioxidants defend lipids and other membrane constituents by trapping and reacting with ${}^{1}O_{2}$ in chloroplasts along with protecting the Photosystem II structure and performance (Sharma et al. 2012). It can regenerate lipid peroxyl, alkyl and alkoxy radicals produced during the polyunsaturated fatty acids oxidation (Kohen & Nyska 2002). Plants also produce vitamin E that act as important lip soluble redox buffer systems. It is generally produced in chloroplasts, protoplasts and the membranes of cells. This is a basic singlet oxygen scavenger compound to provide defense against lipid peroxidation (Jaleel et al. 2009). It can become a reactive radical after combining with free radicals and it also functions as a prooxidant in the co-antioxidants absence (Carocho & Ferreira 2013). It strongly decreases

oxygen free radicals effect and can diminish the oxidative stress by avoiding the free radicals production (La Fata et al. 2017).

Phenols are the richest antioxidants in plants with excellent ability to capture oxidative free radicals (Jiang et al. 2016). They are a diverse group of secondary metabolites (flavonoids, tannins, hydroxycinnamate esters, lignin, etc.) in plant cells (Sakakibara et al. 2003). They scavenge free radicals by donating hydrogen atoms and electrons and metal cations chelation to rapidly stabilize phenol radical (Balasundram et al. 2006). They detoxify H₂O₂ after donating electrons to guaiacol-type peroxidases under stress conditions (Michalak 2006). Their potent radical scavenging ability provide protection against UV radiation. Moreover, they act as feeding deterrents for herbivores, enzyme inhibitors and also provides resistance to pathogens (Bennett & Wallsgrove 1994). They can be categorized into various groups:

- Phenolic acids are the phenolic compounds that have one carboxylic acid group. They are found in the variety of foods, i.e. seeds, fruits skins, and leaves of vegetables contain their high amount (Pereira et al. 2009). Phenolic acids retain much greater *in vitro* antioxidant activity as compared to well-known antioxidant vitamins (Tsao et al. 2004). They possess resonance stabilized structure and donates H-atom through radical scavenging mechanism. On the other hand, the known antioxidant activity of phenolic acids are; radical quenching *via* electron donation and singlet oxygen quenching (Kumar & Goel 2019).
- **Lignans** are secondary plant metabolites that exhibit diverse structures (Magoulas & Papaioannou 2014). Lignans consist of two propyl-benzene units coupled by a β, β'-bond (Pan et al. 2009) and belongs to the diphenolic compounds group (Suzuki & Umezawa 2007). They are found in many seeds, grains, and fruits. They have low concentrations in vegetables, but sesame and flax seeds contains them in higher amount (Landete 2012).
- Stilbenes are polyphenolic substances synthesized by plants, especially grapes, peanuts, rhubarb and berries to defend themselves from pathogens, bacterial and fungal growth (Ansari et al.2013). They have antioxidant, anti-proliferative and anti-inflammatory properties. They maintains the homeostatic conditions and reduce the inflammatory factors transcription (Al-Khayri et al. 2023). They consist of an ethylene moiety in the middle of two benzene rings and are have

carbon skeleton of 1,2-diphenylethylene (Nagumo et al.2019). They are involved in the protection and treatment of different diseases such as cancer owing to their cell death activation properties (Sirerol et al. 2016). They are capable of scavenging cellular-enzymatic antioxidant defense and decreases the production of intracellular reactive oxygen species (Frombaum et al.2012).

• Flavonoids are present in the leaves, flower, and pollen grains. They are involved in the pigmentation of flowers, fruits, and seeds. They also take part in plant fertility germination of pollen and pathogens defense. Flavonoids are secondary ROS scavenging system in plants that damage the photosynthetic machinery via the surplus excitation energy (Fini et al. 2011). They scavenge ¹O₂ and relieve the harms caused to the outer choloroplastic membrane envelope (Agati et al. 2012). They improve the ability of antioxidants to combine with active oxygen and have lower redox potential than oxygen and superoxide radicals (Duthie & Crozier 2000). Their synthesis is initiated by UV stress, toxicity of heavy metals, and the conditions of low temperature and nutrient, attributed to their UV-absorbing, metal chelating and radical scavenging ability (Rivero et al. 2001; Winkel-Shirley 2002).

2.3. Tea and tea-like plants

Tea is the most widely used beverage globally following only fresh water (Soukand & Kalle 2012). The English term "tea" denotes the infusion made from the *Camellia sinensis* (L.) Kuntze leaves. It also refers to the wide variety of locally grown herbs used in different regions of the world for recreational tea. Recreational tea is a technical term for an infusion made from leaves or flowers of herbs. These beverages were already recognized in Europe prior the introduction of the oriental tea in 1606 by the Dutch East India Company there (Weisburger & Comer 2000).

The herbal teas are used in a food context and this use is considered a modern tendency that is related to the oriental teas introduction in Europe. Herbal teas were only used in a medicinal context, while those of herbal teas taken like a coffee after meals were modern and not common (Menendez et al. 2012). Different kinds of teas are prepared by using the leaves of the tea plant, depending upon the mode of processing demonstrating the high-quality tea with rich aroma and revitalizing flavour (Mondal 2014; Sang et al. 2011).

Teas of flowers or flowers mixed with other ingredients are commonly used in the traditional medicine with different names such as "zhourat" (Obon et al. 2014) or "shai alwird". Other rose species and cultivars (Baser et al. 2013; Vinokur el al. 2006), jasmine, Hibiscus sabdariffa (Saeed et al. 2013), chamomile (Guzelmeric et al. 2017) and some species are also taken in the herbal teas preparation. Herbal mixtures are important in ethnopharmacological study and in folk medicine their significance is revealed by the effect of each individual ingredient (Gras et al. 2018).

Linden tea is one of the most popular medicinal plants in Serbia and in other Balkan countries (Pavlovic et al. 2020). Infusion made from linden flowers, *Tilia* spp. is considered the most well-known recreational teas but also it is often used in the common cold, flu inflammation, migraine, hysteria and hypertension treatment (Raal et al. 2013; Soukand et al. 2013). Linden tea acts as an ingredient in different cosmetic products due to its hydrating and astringent properties (Karioti et al. 2009s). This tea contains phenolic compounds mainly quercetin glycosides, kaempferol glycoside, procyanidins, and phenolic acids (Toker et al. 2001).

Another type of tea is Rooibos (*Aspalathus linearis* (Burm.f.) R.Dahlgren), this tea-like plant is a shrub from South Africa. It is safer than *C. sinensis* to take by pregnant and breastfeeding women because this tea is naturally caffeine free (Sharangi 2009). Rooibos tea is naturally slightly sweet with caramel, floral, honey and woody undertones (Koch et al. 2012). Its leaves and fine stems can be used to prepare the herbal tea in the 'fermented' red brown and 'unfermented' green traditional forms (Chen et al. 2013). Rooibos tea can also be extracted and dried to form powdered tea extract containing high number of antioxidants especially polyphenols (Fukasawa et al. 2009). It alleviates the allergies, asthma, dermatological conditions, and infantile colic (Joubert et al. 2008).

Hibiscus sabdariffa tea, also known as roselle tea or karkade, is other popular caffeine free herbal tea that is prepared from fresh or dried calyces of *H. sabdariffa* L. It is red in colour and tastes like berries (Qi et al. 2005). Calix can be also used for the preparation of cold and fermented drinks, wine, jam, sweets, ice cream, chocolates, flavouring agents, desserts and cakes (Bako et al. 2009; Bolade et al. 2009). This tea contains an enzyme inhibitor to block the amylase production and drinking a cup of hibiscus tea after meals can reduces the dietary carbohydrates absorption and help in weight loss (Da-Costa 2014). It is also used in lowering

the body temperature (Leung 1996), in treatment of coughs and sore throats, genital problems, and for the treatment of external wounds (Neuwinger 2000).

Chamomile tea and herbal extracts are prepared from dried flowers of *Matricaria* species (Astin et al. 2000), mainly *M. chamomile* L. Tea prepared by using dry flowers induces good sleep, prevent cold and regulates the sweat and intestines (Mckay & Blumberg 2006). The tea infusion is used as a wash or gargle for inflammation of the mucous membranes of the mouth and throat (Mazokopakis et al. 2005). A medicinal preparation of chamomile and other herbs produces calming and tranquillizing effects (Dai et al. 2023).

2.3.1. Water infusion

Tea and tea-like beverages are traditionally prepared as a hot water infusion. The time of extraction and temperature differ according to source of plant material. In *C. sinensis*, optimum temperature for black tea infusion preparation is 80-95°C, however for green tea it is 75 to 80°C, for oolong should be close to 80-85°C (or higher), in case of mate it is 70-80°C. Indeed, rooibos and chamomile express its full potential at 90°C (Harbourne et al. 2009) and time of extraction is 5-7 mins for rooibos, for green tea 1-2 mins and for black tea 2-3 mins while it is 2-3 mins for oolong and in case of chamomile 5-7 mins and is 3-5 mins for mate (Burnett 2021).

C. sinensis is a good kind of mineral source. Mineral content in teas are variable that depends on the plant types, conditions of growth, and processing techniques while in infusion, transition rate of elements is influenced by time and temperature of water (Długaszek & Kaszczuk 2020; Pekal et al. 2012). In Turkey, traditional method is used in tea infusion followed by the teapot and kettle. The tea quality, the tea to water ratio, temperature and infusion time plays a significant role in consumer's choice (Cao et al. 2001). In tea infusions, there are different types of antioxidants comparable to the fat-soluble, water-soluble, and insoluble-bound fractions of tea that helps the people to select tea having strong antioxidant potential (Zhao et al. 2019).

Herbal infusions are prepared from dried parts of plants including roots, rootstocks, shoots, leaves, flowers, barks, fruits and seeds by frequently steeped in boiling water for being used in an infusion form (Guerrero et al. 2010). Herbal infusions are being used in traditional medicine and are popular global beverage (Poswal et al. 2019). Herbal infusions are an easily utilized form of the herbs especially for patients with swallowing problems.

Plant infusions provide a good distribution of active compounds in the intestine effectively. These infusions contain different polyphenol and flavonoid contents (Studzinska-Sroka et al. 2021). Hot water extraction techniques are used for the extraction of components of various herbs consumed through solution in form of infusion and decoction (Kaneria et al. 201). Decoction usually exhibits better extraction efficiency (Randjelovic et al. 2013) for the extraction of compounds strongly bound to the matrix while minerals of lesser interaction are extracted in infusion (Dias et al. 2015). The food consumed in form of aqueous extracts i.e. coffee, tea, and yerba mate the minerals and the matrix interaction effect their availability and solubility (Gharibzahedi & Jafari 2017).

2.3.2. Camellia sinensis (L.) Kuntze

The *Theaceae* family consists of 19 genera and 600 species. The economically important genus in this family is *Camellia* that contains about 120 species. These species were found in Cambodia, China, Northeast India, Indonesia, Southern Japan, South Korea, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, Nepal, Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam (Wu et al. 2007).

Tea, *Camellia sinensis* (L.) Kuntze, is known as one of the basic drink worldwide, along with cocoa and coffee. It is widely consumed as a daily drink in China and in many countries. Chinese people start growing and using tea plants more than 3,000 years ago. Tea plants are being used to prevent and treat the different diseases since ancient times (Chan et al. 2011). It was grown in South Asia for first time and now is growing in Asia, Africa, and in different areas of the Middle East (Chopade et al. 2008). The tea cultivation in Turkey started along the Eastern black Sea Region in the early years of the Republic and mostly tea cultivation is centralizes on the Rise city of this country (Mendilcioglu 2000). Tea can be grown in fair temperature regions, acidic soils, and humid environmental conditions (Dufresne & Farnworth 2001). Two varieties of tea, green and black, are extensively consumed worldwide (Samanta 2022).

Tea is considered a non-alcoholic beverage that contain many active compounds including tea polysaccharides possesses excellent antioxidant potential (Yao et al. 2022). Antioxidant properties of tea plants are associated with presence of polyphenols, flavonoids and epigallocatechin gallate in tea leaves (Fernando & Soysa 2015). Tea polyphenols have been widely used as antioxidants in animal husbandry, to prevent cancer and regulation of lipid metabolism (Yan et al. 2020). Tea flavonoids reduces inflammation, prevents tooth decay, and has antimicrobial effects (Tariq et al. 2013). Different polyphenol content among tea varieties

might be influenced by several factors such as degree of ripeness, environmental factors, processing, and storage (Manach et al. 2004). Maturation of tea leaves also influence the polyphenols content and antioxidant activities due to chemical compounds transportation within the plant (Farhoosh et al. 2007). Total phenolic content in green tea is higher than black tea (Almajano et al. 2008). Tea also contains minerals and trace elements such as K, Mn, Cr, Ni, and Zn which are essential to human health. The regular consumption of tea may contribute to the daily dietary requirements of several elements and the large amount of potassium is beneficial for hypertensive patients (Fernandez et al. 2002).

Tea plant is an evergreen shrub with large number of branches. The leaves appear glossy dark green, elongate ovate, and roughly serrate, coriaceous, alternate, and short-petiolate. While young leaves appear silver because they bear downy hairs on the surface (Gruenwald 2007). The leaf blade is elliptic, and it has an obtuse end. Their leaves are resistant to very cold temperatures and garnet-brown to purple in colour (Panda 2016). Petals are obovate, free in two whorls, the outer whorls smaller than the inner, green patches present at the tip of outer petals, glabrous (Wu et al. 2007). Fruits are woody, sub-globose and seeds are rounded (Mahmood et al. 2010).

Depending on fermentation process, tea is categorized into three types. Green tea is unfermented form, a partially fermented oolong tea and fermented teas. Fermented teas must undergo a post harvested fermentation stage before drying and streaming. Fermentation of black tea is carried out by an oxidation process catalysed by polyphenol oxidase (Cabrera et al. 2006).

Tea extracts are widely used in the cosmetics industry, such as in face masks, face cleansers, facial toners, sun lotions, toothpastes, mouthwashes, shaving creams, aftershave lotion, deodorant, shampoos, and hair detangles (Koch et al. 2019). The anti-radical substances in tea extracts used in cosmetology are beneficial to human skin, such as polyphenols, flavonoids, catechins, and vitamin C (Katiyar et al. 2001). Green tea extracts enhance the activity and stability of skin-related enzymes (Hong et al. 2014). Green tea extracts are used as anti-obesity, anti-metabolic syndrome, and anti-diabetic treatments and to reduce insulin sensitivity. reduce Green tea extracts are immune system modulators that chronic cardiovascular inflammation and are antineoplastic agents. Catechins have antiviral activity and have regulatory approval for the treatment of genital warts (Coppock & Dziwenka 2016).



Figure 1. Camellia sinensis (L.) Kuntze (Kew Royal Botanical Gardens 2023)

2.3.3. Camellia sinensis var. assamica

Camellia sinensis var. assamica (Masters) or the Assam tea plant, is a member of Theaceae family belongs to Northeast India (Meegahakumbura et al. 2018; Parmar et al. 2012). It is known as "eating tea" or "chewing tea" (Kawakami et al. 1987). It is mainly produced in the mountainous areas of northern Thailand. It is an essential, popular, and important food for traditional religious ceremonies and funerals in certain areas (Gypmantasiri et al. 2001). Its consumption prevents from cardiovascular disorders, cancer, and diabetes (Khan & Mukhtar 2019; Singhal et al. 2017).

It is an evergreen perennial tree and exhibits high cross-pollinating behaviour (Olaniyi et al. 2014; Xia et al. 2020). It is considered a small plant that is 10-15 meters tall. The trunk of this tree equals the third of its height having a strong branching system. The leaves are either hairless or hairy that are dependent, shiny, thin, and pointed shape. The leaf blade is usually oval with 8-20 cm length and 3.5-7.5 cm width. Warm weather conditions suit it well (Marchand & Desharnais 2014). It has larger leaves and a semi arboreal habit (Carr 2018).

It is usually consumed as snack with or without salt (Tamang 2012). It is also consumed with other condiments such as roasted coconut, shredded ginger, peanuts, and coconut. Generally, it is chewed for about 10 minutes, but young people tend to swallow it (Mougne et al. 1982). Its active components are extensively used in skin care and skin treatment products (Rajbhar et al. 2015). In the cosmetic industry, tea extracts are used due to antioxidant activity,

anti-aging, anti-cellulite and photo-protective properties, and microcirculation (Koch et al. 2019).

C. sinensis var. *sinensis* (China tea) is the tea grown chiefly in China and Japan which has smaller leaves and more cold tolerance but grows less vigorously than *C. sinensis* var. *assamica* (Mast.). Green teas are always prepared from this. It is an evergreen and multi-stemmed shrub up to 3 m tall. Leaves are leathery, narrow, and less than 10 cm long, dark green with dull, flat surface and indistinct marginal veins (Schooler & Van der Vossen 2000).

C. sinensis (L.) Kuntze var. lasiocalyx (Watt) W. Wight has intermediate characteristics between China and assam teas (Schooler & Van der Vossen 2000).

2.3.4. *Ilex paraguariensis* A. St. Hil

Yerba mate (*Ilex paraguariensis* A. St. Hil) is a perennial tree belonging to the *Aquifoliaceae* family native of South America present in Uruguay, Paraguay, Argentina, and Brazil (Valduga et al. 2019). Mate tea is an herbal infusion prepared from the dried leaves of *I. paraguariensis* (Grigioni et al. 2004). It is considered one of the most widely consumed non-alcoholic beverage in South America (Small & Catling 2001). Its demand is also increasing due to its pharmacological properties and health benefits (Bracesco et al. 2011). It contains phenolic compounds such as caffeic acid, (Filip et al. 2001), xanthines, flavonoids, tannins, rutin and saponins (Lewinski et al. 2007). It also contains minerals (P, Fe, and Ca) and vitamins (C, B1, and B2) (Heinrichs & Malavolta 2001).

The name "yerba mate" originated in Spain. The word "yerba" means a drink made from the herb, while the word "mate" means drinking from a calabash mate gourd (Gawron-Gzella et al. 2021). Yerba mate was also known as 'Jesuit tea' or 'Paraguayan tea'. This beverage has been consumed traditionally by Guarani indigenous people before the conquest of South America (Delacassa & Bandoni 2001). Its leaves and small branches after processing are used in the production of infusion drinks, such as chimarrao. Although the most consumed infusion is "mate" or "chimarrao" (hot beverage), but there are different forms of its consumption, such as tea, "terere" (cold beverage) and carbonated drinks (Lewinski et al. 2015).

I. paraguariensis is a subtropical dioecious evergreen tree that can reaches 18 m in height. The mate tree is a flower and fruit producing plant, flowering from October to November and producing fruit from March to June (Giberti 1994). This plant has monopodial

branching and rhythmic growth (Halle et al. 1978). Its rhythmic growth is expressed by the occurrence of two annual growth flushes forming portions of the two annual growth units, one in the spring and another in the autumn (Guedon et al. 2018; Matsunaga et al. 2014).

Yerba mate leaves have antioxidant (Filip et al. 2000), anti-obesity (Pittler & Ernst 2004), chemo-preventative (Filip et al. 2007), anti-diabetic, digestive improvement, and cardiovascular properties (Gorgen et al. 2005). It also shows hypo-cholesterol emic, hepato-protective, central nervous system stimulant and diuretic effect, and prevents oxidation of DNA and lipoprotein. It is used as an ingredient in the food or dietary supplement industries. Yerba mate tea is associated with both the prevention and the cause of some types of cancers (Heck et al. 2007).



Figure 2. Ilex paraguariensis A.St.-Hil. (Kew Royal Botanical Gardens 2023)

2.4. Extraction methods

Antioxidants from plants can be extracted by different extraction methods. The extraction of polyphenols and other functional compounds from different parts of tea is carried out using different solvents (e.g. water, water-ethanol, ethanol, methanol, acetone, ethyl acetate, and acetonitrile) that play role in antioxidant activities. Solvent that has higher polarity (aqueous methanol) is more efficient to scavenge free radicals than less polar solvent (methanol and hot water) (Turkmen et al. 2006). The choice of solvent must consider several factors including selectivity, ability to extract, toxicity, ease of evaporation and prices (Harborne

1998). Ethanol is frequently considered as an efficient solvent to extract polyphenols (Koffi et al. 2010). Moreover, the particle size of the raw materials, the solvent-to-solid ratio, the extraction temperature, and the extraction duration also affect the extraction efficiency.

The extraction of natural products processes through the following stages:

- (1) The solvent penetrates the solid matrix
- (2) The solute dissolves in the solvents
- (3) The solute is diffused out of the solid matrix
- (4) The extracted solutes are collected (Li et al. 2014; Zhou et al. 2012).

Several conventional techniques, such as boiling, heating, Soxhlet, and cold extraction are used to extract bioactive ingredients. However, these procedures are unsuitable for achieving high yields and biological activities due to the long extraction times of cold brewing and the high temperatures in other heating methods (Raghunath et al. 2023). These techniques are also vulnerable to degradation of heat-labile compounds, high solvent and energy consumption, and the formation of toxic residues (Banerjee et al. 2017). Many efforts have been carried out to replace conventional extraction techniques with innovative technologies (Raghunath et al. 2023).

The green extraction techniques, also known as non-conventional extraction methods, possess advantages such as the use of less hazardous chemical synthesis, safer solvents, use of renewable feedstock, reduce derivatives and time analysis, prevent degradation, and pollution prevention (Azmir et al. 2013). The emerging extraction processes include faster extraction rate, more effective energy use, increased mass and heat transfer and a reduction in the number of processing steps (Jacotet-Navarro et al. 2016). Recently, subcritical, superheated, or pressurized hot water has become of great interest as an alternative solvent for extraction of natural active compounds (Herrero et al. 200).

2.4.1. Microwave extraction (MAE)

This technique was first used in the 1980s and it is one of the most popular extraction methods today. Microwaves are used for the extraction of phytoconstituents from herbal sample (Bagade & Patil 2021). This technique combines microwave and regular solvent used for the extraction of polyphenols from tea. Microwaves heat up the solvents and plant tissues in the extraction process for increasing the kinetics of extraction (Al-hatim et al. 2022). This

extraction method is more effective in the recovery of high-quality phenols and flavonoids from plant matrix in a shorter time (Chan et al. 2011; Desai et al. 2010). This method is being affected by different extraction parameters i.e. irradiation time, temperature, microwave power level, feed to solvent ratio, and solvent concentration (when a mixture of solvent is used) (Raut et al. 2015). This technique has several advantages, including shorter extraction time, less solvent, higher extraction rate, and cheaper cost (Al-hatim et al. 2022).

2.4.2. Subcritical Water Extraction

Subcritical water extraction (SWE) is also referred to as accelerated solvent extraction, pressurized fluid extraction, pressurized hot solvent extraction, high-pressure solvent extraction and subcritical solvent extraction. SWE is a faster method, which uses a pressurized liquid kept below its critical point (374°C for water) and above its boiling point (100°C for water). These conditions allow fluids to remain in a liquid state due to the applied pressure and it creates low polar water with equivalent to organic solvents at ambient temperature (Shimizu et al. 2019; Zhang & Wolf 2019). Due to conditions of pressure and temperature physicochemical properties of solvent are changed. For instance, mass transfer rates are enhanced, while at the same time, solvent surface tension and viscosity are decreased, and solubility of analytes is increased that allows the solvent to penetrate deeper into the solid matrix being extracted. As a result, significantly higher extraction yields are obtained. Therefore, SWE is a faster extraction processes with less consumption of solvent for the sample preparation (Alvarez-Rivera et al. 2020). This technique facilitates rapid extraction without the loss or changes of the chemical integrity of thermolabile compounds (Essien et al. 2020).

In this technique, water acts as a solvent and catalyst to convert biomass into valuable products (Abdelmoez et al. 2007). The properties of subcritical water can be adjusted by temperature. When the temperature of water increases, its hydrogen bonding breaks with decreasing dielectric constant and polarity (Mazaheri et al. 2010) resulting in increased concentration of hydrogen ion (Abdelmoez & Yoshida 2006). This allows selective extractions such as extracting polar compounds at lower temperatures and less polar ingredients at higher temperatures (Cheng et al. 2021). Combining subcritical water with an organic solvent such as ethanol and methanol improve the yield, extraction time and solubility of compounds (Kwon & Chung 2015). Another advantage of this technique is that water is non-toxic, and no liquid waste disposal is required after extraction (Mazaheri et al. 2010). Extraction time is the main

factor to increase the antioxidant extraction yield (Li et al. 2020). Phenolic compounds could be efficiently achieved in a very short time (Zullaikah et al. 2015).

This technology is used for the extraction of active compounds from different biomass materials with low cost, mild operating conditions, short process times, and environmental sustainability. This technique is used in the pharmaceutical, environmental, and food fields for the extraction of nutritional compounds and organic contaminants. It is also useful for the extraction of organic acids, amino acids, proteins, fatty acids, oils, and it can be applied in wastewater (Sun et al. 2012). This method is suitable for the extraction of seasoning herbs, vegetables, fruits, food by-products, algae, shrubs, tea leaves, grains, and seeds. Many natural products extracted through this method includes alkaloids, carbohydrates, flavonoids, glycosides, lignans, polyphenolics, quinones, steroids and terpenes (Cheng et al. 2021).

SWE process is also often used for the separation of hemicellulose and other undesirable compounds from biomass in the cellulosic industry (Ruiz et al. 2021). During this process, lingo-cellulosic biomass is immersed in hot water at high pressure. This results in pentose recovery with high efficiency after enzymatic hydrolysis and dissolution rate of 4-22% for cellulose and 35-60% for lignin (Alvira et al. 2010). The available polysaccharides in extracted wood chips can be hydrolysed to convert them into simpler sugars that can be fermented to produce ethyl alcohol (bioethanol). Due to current climate policy, this method is used in the production of bioethanol using new raw materials such as hemp can increase access to high quality alternative fuel (Leszczynski & Roman 2023).

3. Hypothesis

Tea and tea-like plants are a rich source of antioxidants and bioactive compounds (polyphenols and catechins) that can scavenge free radicals. Subcritical water extraction (SWE) is a novel method used for extraction of natural active compounds with low extraction time, higher extract quality and lower operational cost. SWE is an effective method for extracting valuable bioactive compounds but, the main operating parameters i.e. temperature and time (mainly in our study) affect final yield and antioxidant activity of extracts.

Aims of the Thesis

The aim of this thesis was to evaluate and compare the antioxidant activity and TPC of different fractions of SWE extracts and WI of green tea, black tea and mate. Specific objectives are:

- To evaluate the effect of time of extraction on yield of phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity.
- To determine antioxidant activity of obtained extracts by various methods; 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical assay (DPPH) and Oxygen radical absorbance capacity assay (ORAC) were used.
- To determine content of polyphenolic substances in obtained extracts by using TPC assay.
- To compare results of SWE extracts with extracts obtained by classic infusion method.

4. Methods

4.1. Plant material

Plant materials used for extraction of bioactive compounds were bought from commercial sources on the Czech market from the company Herbs Life Sokolov (*Camellia sinensis* – black and green tea) and Salvia Paradise (*Ilex paraguariensis* - mate) due to their availability. The places of their origin listed by suppliers were China for black and green tea, and Paraguay for mate.

4.2. Preparation of Extracts

Plant materials were grounded to mild powder by using an electric mill GM 100 (Retsch, Germany) prior the extraction.

4.2.1. Subcritical water extracts

The fine powder of each plant sample weighing 7.5 g was placed into the extraction vessel SFE Helix (Applied Separations, USA). The sample was subsequently extracted for 1st 2min, 2nd 2min, 3rd 2min, 4th 2min and 5th 2 min by keeping the water temperature 120°C and extraction vessel pressure 50 Bar. Then again fine powder weighing 7.5 g of each plant sample was taken and placed into the extraction vessel and extracted the sample for 1st 5min and 2nd 5min. At last, fine powder of each plant sample weighing 7.5 g was taken and placed into the extraction vessel and extracted the sample for whole 10minutes. After collecting the final extract, all the fractions were concentrated by rotary evaporator R-200 (Buchi, Switzerland) at 50°C and vacuum, until the lowest possible yield was obtained from dry sample. The dry material was weighed and stored at -20°C for further use. The extract yields of samples are presented in Table 1.

4.2.2. Water infusion

The fine powder weighing 7.5 g was poured into 1 L boiling water. Brewing was done for 10mins and the membrane vacuum pump KNF Laboport (KNF Neuberger GmbH, Germany) was used to filter the infusion. Rotary evaporator R-200 (Büchi, Switzerland) was used to make the final extract concentrated at 50°C and vacuum to obtain lowest possible yield from dry sample. Then, the dry residue after weighing was stored at -20°C for use. The extract yields are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Extraction yield (%)

Species, Family	Used part	2mins fractions	SWE 5mins fractions	10mins fractions	WI 10mins fractions	Source
Green tea (Camellia sinensis, Theaceae)	Leaves	19.52%	22.89%	21.82%	31.6%	HerbsLife Sokolov
Black tea (Camellia sinensis, Theaceae)	Leaves	8.82%	9.92%	8.49%	32.54%	HerbsLife Sokolov
Mate (Ilex paraguariensis, Aquifoliaceae)	Leaves	23.24%	23.52%	25.08%	40.22%	Salvia Paradise

Notes: SWE- subcritical water extraction; WI- water infusion.

4.3. Chemicals

Methanol and Folin-Ciocalteu reagent were bought from Penta (Prague, Czech Republic), and inorganic salts (K₂HPO₄, KH₂HPO₄ and Na₂CO₃) were bought from Lach-Ner (Neratovice, Czech Republic). 2,2'-azobis (2-methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride (AAPH), (±)-6-hydroxy2,5,7,8-tetramethylchromane-2-carboxylic acid (Trolox), 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), gallic acid, and fluorescein sodium salt were bought from Sigma-Aldrich (Prague, Czech Republic).

4.4. Evaluation of Antioxidant activity

4.4.1. **DPPH**

The Sharma and Bhat (2009) method was used to evaluate the antioxidant activity of the extracts on the bases of their ability to inhibit DPPH radical. Stock solutions of Trolox and samples were prepared in methanol at the concentration 512 μ g/mL. For the two-fold serial dilution of each sample the automatized pipetting platform Freedom EVO 100 (Tecan, Mannedorf, Switzerland) was used in 96-well microtiter plates. Then, 25 μ L of 1 mM DPPH in methanol and 75 μ L of methanol were pipetted into each well. The final concentrations of each sample and Trolox in the microtiter plate was $0.125-256~\mu$ g/mL. Incubation of the plates was performed for 30 min at room temperature in the dark. After that, a Multimode Reader Cytation 3 (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA) was used for the measurement of the absorbance spectrophotometrically at 517 nm. Experiments were performed in triplicate as three independent tests and their results were calculated as a mean value of half maximal inhibitory concentration with standard deviation (IC50 \pm SD) in μ g/mL.

4.4.2. ORAC

The method of Ou et al. (2001) was used to determine the ability of samples to protect fluorescein from oxidative degradation by AAPH radical using ORAC assay. Firstly, stock solutions of 48 nM fluorescein and 153 mM AAPH radical were prepared in 75 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7). For the two-fold serial dilution of each extract, phosphate buffer was prepared in 96-well black absorbance microtiter plates using automatized pipetting platform Freedom EVO 100 (Tecan, Mannedorf, Switzerland). Then, 150 µL of fluorescein was added into each well for

incubation at 37°C for 10 mins. Consequently, the application of 25 μ L of AAPH and ORAC buffer in three wells (control) started the reaction and the plates were placed into the incubator for 1.5 hours at 37°C. The 32 to 0.125 μ g/mL concentrations were used for this sample. Each microtiter plate was filled with 200 mL of distilled water in the outer wells to enhance the thermal mass stability. Fluorescein with AAPH in phosphate buffer (blank 1) and fluorescein in buffer (blank 2) were part of each plate while using the Trolox as a positive control. Finally, the radical inhibition results were recorded using Multimode Reader Cytation 3 (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA) at 485 nm wavelength. Experiments were carried out in triplicate as three independent tests whereas their results were calculated as a mean value of IC₅₀ \pm SD in μ g/mL.

4.4.3. TPC

The method of Singleton et al. (1999) was used for the determination of TPC in the extracts that was performed in the 96-well microtiter plates. Stock solutions (32 μ g/mL concentration) of samples were prepared and pipetted out the 100 μ L of each sample into the plate in triplicates. Then, 75 μ L of 12% Na₂CO₃ and 25 μ L of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent were mixed in the sample to start the reaction. The incubation of plate was done for 2 hours at 37°C in the dark. For the measurement of absorbance, Multimode Reader Cytation 3 (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA) was used at 700 nm. The standard calibration curve was created by using 8 levels of gallic acid concentration (0.25, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 32 μ g/mL). Experiments were carried out in triplicate as three independent tests whereas their results were described as a mean value of gallic acid equivalents (mg GAE/g extract).

4.4.4. Statistical analysis

Linear correlation coefficients (r) between antioxidant assays (DPPH, ORAC) and TPC were evaluated by using Pearson product moment correlation to find that the phenolic compounds are responsible for the antioxidant activity in studied plants. The correlation degree was found according to the principle of Evans (1996), where the correlation is evaluated based on absolute value of r as: very weak (r = 0.0.19), weak (r = 0.20-0.39), moderate (r = 0.40-0.59), strong (r = 0.60-0.79), very strong (0.80-1).

The statistical analysis for the comparison of different SWE fractions (1st 2min, 2nd 2min, 3rd 2min, 4th 2min, and 5th 2min; 1st 5min and 2nd 5min, and 10min) and Water infusion (10min),

their effect on antioxidant activity and TPC was performed by Microsoft Excel (Microsoft 365 MSO, Microsoft Corporation, Redmont, USA) using Student's T-test for each sample. The differences were considered to be statistically significant at p < 0.05.

5. Results

The confirmation of antioxidant activity by more than one method can provide complete evaluation of total antioxidant capacity in individual plants. Thus, the antioxidant activity of plant extracts is determined by two methods differing based on mode of action, the DPPH representing electron atom transfer reaction and ORAC representing a hydrogen atom transfer reaction (Prior et al. 2005). In view of the fact that phenolic compounds especially phenolic acids and flavonoids are considered the most important plant constituents responsible for antioxidant activity (Chaves et al. 2020), TPC is also evaluated. In this study, antioxidant activity and TPC were measured for both types of extracts (WI and SWE) while their results were expressed as IC₅₀ (µg/mL) for DPPH and ORAC, and as mg of gallic acid equivalent per g of extract (mg GAE/g) for TPC, including ±SD.

5.1. ORAC

In *C. sinensis* – green tea, the strongest antioxidant activity (IC₅₀ 6.50 μ g/mL) was obtained in SWE 2nd 5min fraction. The strong antioxidant activities were obtained also in SWE 10min, 3rd 2min, 4th 2min and 5th 2min fractions with IC₅₀ in range from 7.44 to 8.54 μ g/mL for ORAC assay. The weaker antioxidant activity was obtained in SWE 1st 2min, 2nd 2min, and 1st 5min fractions having IC₅₀ in range from 9.47 to 11.89 μ g/mL. The antioxidant activity was also weak in WI 10min (IC₅₀ 9.56 μ g/mL).

Similarly, for *C. sinensis* – black tea, the strongest antioxidant activity was determined in SWE 2^{nd} 5min fraction having IC₅₀ 6.43 µg/mL. Other strong antioxidant activity was observed in same fractions as for green tea - in SWE 10min, 3^{rd} 2min, 4^{th} 2min, and 5^{th} 2min fractions with IC₅₀ in range from 7.03 to 8.89 µg/mL. On the other hand, the antioxidant activity was weakest in SWE 1^{st} 2min fraction (16.93 µg/mL), and weak in 1^{st} 5min (14.62 µg/mL) and 2^{nd} 2min fractions (11.29 µg/mL). In WI 10min, the antioxidant activity was also weak with IC₅₀ 12.01 µg/mL.

From above mentioned results it is evident that extraction time has substantial effect on antioxidant activity of C. sinensis. Specifically, 2^{nd} 5min fraction was the most active in both cases (black tea and green tea). Moreover, SWE 10min, 3^{rd} 2min, 4^{th} 2min, and 5^{th} 2min fractions were with strong activity again in both, black tea, and green tea. Similarly, the lowest antioxidant effect

was determined for 1st 2min fraction, 2nd 2min fraction, and 1st 5min fraction. Furthermore, WI extracts was weak in both cases.

In *I. paraguariensis*— mate, the antioxidant activity was strongest in 3^{rd} 2min and 5^{th} 2min fractions having IC₅₀ (5.55 µg/mL and 5.97 µg/mL). Other strong antioxidant activity was determined in 4^{th} 2min and 2^{nd} 5min fractions (IC₅₀ 6.46 µg/mL and 6.05 µg/mL, respectively). Weak antioxidant activity was obtained in 1^{st} 2min, 2^{nd} 2min, 1^{st} 5min and 10min fractions with IC₅₀ in range from 7.51 to 7.97 µg/mL. The weakest activity was also obtained in WI 10min with IC₅₀ 8.14 µg/mL. All the results of ORAC assay are summarized in Table 2.

The effect of fractions on antioxidant potential was evaluated by student T-test, and the statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were determined in many cases (results are part of Table 2):

In both cases, green tea and black tea, between 5min fractions (1st 5min and 2nd 5 min);

In green tea between:

- SWE 1st 2min and 4th, 5th 2min fractions, and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 2nd 2min, and 1st 5min and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 4th 2min and 1st 5min fractions:
- SWE 5th 2min and 1st 5min fractions;
- SWE 1st 2min, 2nd 2min, 1st 5min with 10min fractions;
- SWE 1st 5min, 2nd 5min and 10min with WI 10min:

In black tea between:

- SWE 1st 2min and 2nd, 3rd 4th, 5th 2min, and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 2nd 2min and 3rd 2min, 5th 2min, and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd, 4th, 5th 2min and 1st 5min fractions;
- SWE 1st 2min, 2nd 2min, 1st 5min, 2nd 5min and 10min fractions;
- SWE 1st, 3rd, 5th 2min, 2nd 5min and WI 10min;
- SWE 10 min and WI 10min;

In mate between:

- SWE 1st and 2nd 2min, 3rd and 5th 2min, and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd 2min and 1st 5min fractions;
- SWE 5th 2min and 1st 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd, 5th 2min, and 2nd 5min and 10min fractions;
- SWE 1st, 3rd and 5th 2min, 2nd 5min and WI 10min;

Table 2. Antioxidant activity of different fractions of subcritical water extraction and water infusion of tea and tea-like plants by ORAC method.

Samples, Family	Fractions	IC ₅₀ (μg/ml) ±SD*
Green tea	SWE 1st 2min	11.48±1.0 ^{ABCI}
(Camellia sinensis, Theaceae)	SWE 2 nd 2min	$9.47 \pm 0.5^{\text{DEJ}}$
	SWE 3 rd 2min	$8.54{\pm}1.5$
	SWE 4 th 2min	$8.20{\pm}1.0^{AF}$
	SWE 5 th 2min	$8.48{\pm}1.1^{\mathbf{BG}}$
	SWE 1 st 5min	11.89 ± 0.8 DFGHKL
	SWE 2 nd 5min	$6.50 \pm 0.4^{\text{CEHM}}$
	SWE 10min	7.44 ± 0.4 IJKN
	WI 10min	$9.56 \pm 0.7^{\text{LMN}}$
Black tea	SWE 1 st 2min	16.93±0.7 ^{ABCDEMR}
(Camellia sinensis, Theaceae)	SWE 2 nd 2min	$11.29\pm1.4^{\text{AFGHN}}$
	SWE 3 rd 2min	$7.94 \pm 0.8^{\mathbf{BFIS}}$
	SWE 4 th 2min	8.89 ± 1.3 CJ
	SWE 5 th 2min	$7.03\pm1.3^{\text{DGKPT}}$
	SWE 1 st 5min	$14.62 \pm 1.6^{\text{I-L},\text{O}}$
	SWE 2 nd 5min	$6.43\pm0.8^{\mathrm{EHLQU}}$
	SWE 10min	$8.37 \pm 0.1^{M-Q, V}$
	WI 10min	$12.01 \pm 1.9^{\text{R-V}}$
Mate	SWE 1 st 2min	$7.77 \pm 0.1^{\text{ABCM}}$
(Ilex paraguariensis, Aquifoliaceae)	SWE 2 nd 2min	$7.51 \pm 0.5^{\text{DEF}}$
	SWE 3 rd 2min	5.55 ± 0.5^{ADGJN}
	SWE 4 th 2min	6.46 ± 1.0
	SWE 5 th 2min	$5.97 \pm 0.07^{\text{BEHKO}}$
	SWE 1 st 5min	$7.89 \pm 0.1^{\text{GHI}}$
	SWE 2 nd 5min	$6.05\pm0.4^{\text{CFILP}}$
	SWE 10min	$7.97 \pm 0.06^{\text{JKL}}$
	WI 10min	8.14 ± 0.1^{MNOP}
Trolox		12.39±2.24

Notes: SWE- subcritical water extraction; WI- water infusion; *- same letters means the values are significantly different (p<0.05); IC50- half maximal inhibitory concentration; SD- standard deviation

5.2. DPPH

DPPH assay showed that in *C. sinensis* – green tea, the strongest antioxidant activity was found in SWE 2^{nd} 5min fraction (IC₅₀ 9.73 µg/mL). The other strong antioxidant activity was obtained in 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} , 4^{th} , 5^{th} 2min and 10min fractions having IC₅₀ in range from 12.04 to 15.70 µg/mL. The antioxidant activity was also quite strong in WI 10min (IC₅₀ 13.88 µg/mL). The weakest antioxidant activity was determined in 1^{st} 2min and 1^{st} 5min fractions (IC₅₀ 21.98 µg/mL and 21.34 µg/mL).

For *C. sinensis* – black tea, the strongest antioxidant activity was determined in SWE 2^{nd} 5min fraction (IC₅₀ 16.23 µg/mL). While other strong antioxidant activity was obtained in 2^{nd} 2min, 3^{rd} 2min, 4^{th} 2min, 5^{th} 2min and 10min fractions having IC₅₀ in range from 18.68 to 24.11 µg/mL. In WI 10min, the antioxidant activity was also strong having IC₅₀ 20.618 µg/mL. The weakest antioxidant activity was obtained in SWE 1^{st} 2min fraction (IC₅₀ 40.94 µg/mL) and the weak in 1^{st} 5min fraction (IC₅₀ 28.11 µg/mL).

It is evident from our results that antioxidant activity of *C. sinensis* is substantially affected by extraction time. Specifically, 2nd 5min fraction was the most active in both cases i.e. black tea and green tea. Moreover, SWE 2nd 2min, 3rd 2min, 4th 2min, 5th 2min and 10min fractions have strong activity in both cases, black tea, and green tea. Similarly, the lowest antioxidant effect was determined for 1st 2min and 1st 5min fractions. Although in DPPH assay WI extracts possessed quite strong activity, some SWE fractions showed better results, confirming hypothesis, that SWE and fractionation is effective method for extraction of bioactive compounds.

In *I. paraguariensis* – mate, the strongest antioxidant activity was found in SWE 4th 2min fraction with IC₅₀ 29.16 µg/mL. Other strong antioxidant activity was obtained in SWE 1st 5min, 2nd 2min, 3rd 2min and 10min fractions having IC₅₀ in range from 29.30 to 30.81 µg/mL. On the other hand, the weakest antioxidant activity was determined in 1st 2min fraction (IC₅₀ 33.79 µg/mL). Other weak antioxidant activity was determined in 2nd 5min, 5th 2min fractions, and WI 10 min (31.22-31.90 µg/mL). All the results of DPPH assay are presented in Table 3.

The effect of fraction on antioxidant potential was also evaluated by student T-test, and the statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were determined in many cases (these results are a part of Table 3):

In both cases, green tea and black tea, between 5min fractions (1st 5min and 2nd 5 min);

In green tea between:

- SWE 2nd 2min and 3rd 2min, 4th 2min, 1st and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd, 4th, 5th 2min, and 1st 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd 2min, 4th 2min and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd 2min, 4th 2min, 1st 5min, 2nd 5min and 10min fractions;

In black tea between:

- SWE 1st 2min and 2nd, 3rd 4th, 5th 2min, 1st and 2nd 5min fraction
- SWE 3rd, 4th, 5th 2min and 1st 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd 2min and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 1st 2min, 4th 2min and 10min fractions;
- SWE 1st 2min, 1st 5min, 2nd 5min and WI 10min;

In mate between:

• SWE 5th 2min and SWE 10min fractions:

Table 3. Antioxidant activity of different fractions of subcritical water extraction and water infusion of tea and tea-like plants by DPPH method.

Samples, Family	Fractions	IC ₅₀ (μg/mL) ±SD*
Green tea (Camellia sinensis, Theaceae)	SWE 1 st 2min	21.99±2.5
	SWE 2 nd 2min	$15.05 \pm 0.3^{\text{ABCD}}$
	SWE 3 rd 2min	12.04 ± 0.8^{AEFK}
	SWE 4 th 2min	$12.73 \pm 0.3^{\text{BGHL}}$
	SWE 5 th 2min	14.07 ± 0.9^{I}
	SWE 1 st 5min	$21.33\pm1.2^{\text{CEGIJM}}$
	SWE 2 nd 5min	$9.73\pm0.6^{ extbf{DFHJN}}$
	SWE 10min	$15.70 \pm 0.5^{\text{KLMN}}$
	WI 10min	13.89±1.2
Black tea (Camellia sinensis, Theaceae)	SWE 1 st 2min	40.94±5.3 ^{A-F, LN}
	SWE 2 nd 2min	24.12±4.1 ^A
	SWE 3 rd 2min	$21.27 \pm 1.5^{\mathbf{BGH}}$
	SWE 4 th 2min	$18.68 \pm 1.3^{\text{CIM}}$
	SWE 5 th 2min	$18.92 \pm 1.9^{\mathbf{DJ}}$
	SWE 1 st 5min	28.12 ± 2.1^{EGIJKO}
	SWE 2 nd 5min	16.23 ± 1.5 ^{FHKP}
	SWE 10min	$23.67 \pm 1.8^{\text{LM}}$
	WI 10min	$20.62{\pm}0.8^{\text{NOP}}$
Mate (Ilex paraguariensis, Aquifoliaceae)	SWE 1 st 2min	33.79±3.3
	SWE 2 nd 2min	29.89 ± 0.8
	SWE 3 rd 2min	30.82 ± 2.6
	SWE 4 th 2min	29.16±2.3
	SWE 5 th 2min	31.90 ± 0.8^{A}
	SWE 1 st 5min	29.97±1.1
	SWE 2 nd 5min	31.22±1.5
	SWE 10min	29.30 ± 0.7^{A}
	WI 10min	31.60±3.2
Trolox		10.35±0.8

Notes: SWE- subcritical water extraction; WI- water infusion; *-same letters means the values are significantly different (p<0.05); IC50-half maximal inhibitory concentration; SD- standard deviation

5.3. TPC

For *C. sinensis* – green tea, the highest TPC was determined in SWE 2nd 5min fraction (778.53 mg GAE/g). This was high in SWE 3rd 2min, 4th 2min, and 5th 2min fractions ranging from 654.92 to 688.66 mg GAE/g. TPC was lowest in SWE 1st 5min and 1st 2 min fraction as 454.40 and 482.83 mg GAE/g respectively and low in 2nd 2min and 10min fractions in range from 543.29 to 573.02 mg GAE/g. For WI 10min, the obtained TPC was also low 568.64 mg GAE/g.

For *C. sinensis* – black tea, the highest TPC was obtained in SWE 2nd 5min fraction (650.55 mg GAE/g). High TPC was obtained in 3rd, 4th, 5th 2min fractions in range from 524.05 to 574.33 mg GAE/g. For WI 10min, the TPC was low 453.47 mg GAE/g. The lowest TPC was obtained in SWE 1st 2min (283.82 mg GAE/g) and low TPC was also obtained in 2nd 2 min, 1st 5min and 10 min fractions in range from 372.76 to 414.788 mg GAE/g).

It is revealed from above mentioned results that extraction time substantially affect the total phenolic content of *C. sinensis*. Specifically, SWE 2nd 5min fraction showed highest TPC in both cases (black tea and green tea). Moreover, SWE 3rd 2min, 4th 2min, and 5th 2min fractions showed high TPC again in both cases i.e. black tea and green tea. Similarly, the low TPC was determined for 2nd 2min and 10min fraction in both green tea and black tea. Furthermore, WI extracts were weak in both cases.

In *I. paraguariensis*— mate, the obtained TPC was highest in SWE 4th 2min fraction (543.31 mg GAE/g). The high TPC was found in 2nd 5min, 3rd 2min, and 5th 2min fractions ranging from 521.51 to 540.31 mg GAE/g. However, TPC was lowest in 10min fraction (448.79 mg GAE/g) whereas it was low in 1st 2min, 2nd 2min and 1st 5min fractions in range from 459.08 to 482.36 mg GAE/g. In WI 10min, the TPC was low (492.11 mg GAE/g). The results of TPC are presented in Table 4.

The effect of fractions on antioxidant potential was also evaluated by student T-test, and the statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were determined in many cases (these results are also described in Table 4):

In both cases, green tea and black tea, between 5min fractions (1st 5min and 2nd 5 min);

In green tea between:

- SWE 1st 2min and 2nd 2min, 3rd 2min, and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 2nd 2min, and 4th 2min, 1st 5min and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd 2min, and 1st 5min, 2nd 5min and 10min fractions;
- SWE 4th 2min, and 1st 5min, and 10min fractions;
- SWE 5th 2min and 1st 5min fractions:
- SWE 1st 5min, and 2nd 5min and WI 10min;
- SWE 2nd 5min, and 10min and WI 10min;

In black tea between:

- SWE 1st 2min, and 2nd, 3rd and 4th 2min, 1st and 2nd 5min, 10min and WI 10min;
- SWE 2nd 2min, and 3rd, 4th 2min, 5th 2min and 2nd 5min fractions;
- SWE 3rd 2min, and 1st 5min, 2nd 5min, 10min and WI 10min;
- SWE 4th 2min, and 1st 5min, 2nd 5min and 10min fractions;
- SWE 5th 2min, and 1st 5min, 10min and WI 10min;
- SWE 1st 5min, and 2nd 5min and WI 10min;
- SWE 2nd 5min, and 10min and WI 10min;

In mate, results were statistically evaluated but they were not significantly different.

Table 4. Total phenolic content of different fractions of subcritical water extraction and water infusion of tea and tea-like plants

Samples, Family	Fractions	IC ₅₀ (μg/mL) ±SD*
Green tea (Camellia sinensis, Theaceae)	SWE 1 st 2min	482.83±10.3 ^{A-C}
	SWE 2 nd 2min	573.02±6.9 ^{D-F}
	SWE 3 rd 2min	$654.92\pm9.2^{A, G-I}$
	SWE 4 th 2min	$688.67 \pm 39.9^{\text{BDJK}}$
	SWE 5 th 2min	683.39 ± 31.5^{L}
	SWE 1 st 5min	$454.40 \pm 21.2^{\text{EGJLMN}}$
	SWE 2 nd 5min	$778.53 \pm 6.8^{\text{CFHMO}}$
	SWE 10min	$543.29 \pm 5.4^{\text{IKOP}}$
	WI 10min	568.64 ± 7.4^{NP}
Black tea (Camellia sinensis, Theaceae)	SWE 1 st 2min	283.82±15.4 ^{A-G}
	SWE 2 nd 2min	402.17 ± 4.2^{AHIJK}
	SWE 3 rd 2min	$524.06 \pm 7.5^{\text{BHL-O}}$
	SWE 4 th 2min	$528.52{\pm}13.5^{\text{CIPQR}}$
	SWE 5 th 2min	$574.34 \pm 7.6^{\text{JSTU}}$
	SWE 1 st 5min	$372.76 \pm 7.6^{\text{DLPSVW}}$
	SWE 2 nd 5min	$650.55\pm8.3^{\text{EKMQVXY}}$
	SWE 10min	$414.79 \pm 13.4^{\text{FNRTX}}$
	WI 10min	453.47 ± 5.1 GOUWY
Mate (Ilex paraguariensis, Aquifoliaceae)	SWE 1 st 2min	459.08±3.6
	SWE 2 nd 2min	481.16±4.6
	SWE 3 rd 2min	530.37 ± 5.6
	SWE 4 th 2min	543.31±59.6
	SWE 5 th 2min	521.51±7.6
	SWE 1 st 5min	482.36±4.7
	SWE 2 nd 5min	540.31 ± 42.5
	SWE 10min	448.79 ± 6.1
	WI 10min	492.11±15.1
Trolox		None

Notes: SWE- subcritical water extraction; WI- water infusion; *-same letters means the values are significantly different (p<0.05); IC50- half maximal inhibitory concentration; SD- standard deviation

5.4. Pearson product moment correlation

The Pearson product moment correlation was performed to determine the correlation between antioxidant activity and TPC. It has been found that in green tea, there are strong correlations between DPPH and TPC (r = 0.72) and very strong correlations between ORAC and TPC (r = 0.81; both significantly different at p<0.05). In case of black tea, there is very strong correlations between DPPH and TPC (r = 0.96), ORAC and TPC (r = 0.91), both are significantly different at (p<0.05). In mate, a very weak correlations were found between DPPH and TPC (r = 0.09), while correlation was very strong between ORAC and TPC (r = 0.83) which are significantly different at p<0.05.

Overall, strong correlations were found between DPPH and TPC (r = 0.75) while correlations were moderate between ORAC and TPC (r = 0.53) both are significantly different at (p<0.05).

6. Discussion

C. sinensis is the most common, popular, and widely used drink all over the world which is a potential source of antioxidant (Chan et al. 2007; Roshanak et al. 2016). Their antioxidant activity can be measured by various methods while the credibility and complexity of the results increases with various methods of evaluation (Maslov et al. 2022). In this study, the *in vitro* antioxidant activity of SWE extracts and WI of green tea, black tea and mate was determined by DPPH and ORAC assays. Moreover, phenolic substances especially catechins, flavonoids and phenolic acids are the most effective antioxidants (Kumar & Pandey 2013) which were quantified by the Folin-Ciocalteu assay.

The ORAC assay measures free-radical damage to a fluorescent probe by changing its fluorescence intensity. The change of fluorescence intensity indicates the degree of free-radical damage. The ability of antioxidants to prevent free-radical damage is stated as the degree of protection against the change of probe fluorescence in the ORAC assay (Huang et al. 2002). The antioxidant activity is evaluated by DPPH radical uptake method because it is simple and easy method that uses a small amount of sample (Hanani et al. 2005). Moreover, this method does not need a substrate as free radicals are directly available to replace the substrate. DPPH molecule is a free radical molecule in the presence of electrons delocalization around the molecule (Permana et al. 2003). IC₅₀ value states the antioxidant concentration (µg/mL) inhibiting 50% of free radicals. The smaller the IC₅₀ value means the antioxidant activity become stronger (Indarti et al. 2019).

The differences among different types of teas are due to differences in the plant variety, growth conditions and processing methods that produce variations in the chemical compositions of products. Different methods of manufacturing are also responsible for the difference in the chemical compositions of teas (Kyle et al. 2007; Yao et al. 2006). By focusing on WI and SWE of teas and tea-like plants, several studies agreed with our DPPH and ORAC results such as Unachukwu et al. (2010) investigated that green tea with IC50 23.26 µg/mL exhibit higher antioxidant activity than white tea that has fewer non-catechin antioxidants. As described by Indarti et al. (2019) that ethanolic extract (by using 96% ethanol) having the IC50 value 9.017 µg/mL in green tea due to higher total phenolic and flavonoid content contains polar and semipolar compounds. These results can correlate with our results WI 10min in which green tea showed

weaker antioxidant activity with IC₅₀ (9.56 μ g/mL). Saito et al. (2007) found strong antioxidant activity of green teas with IC₅₀ values ranges from 8.33 to 10.10 μ g/mL extracted through the sonication method (water/acetone solvent) that efficiently extract epigallocatechin gallate and epicatechin gallate. In our results, the strong antioxidant activities were obtained in SWE 10min, 3rd 2min, 4th 2min and 5th 2min fractions with IC₅₀ in range from 7.44 to 8.54 μ g/mL due to difference in extraction time. Previously studies on green teas showed that the antioxidant capacity and the total polyphenols content in tea extracts correlate with extraction time (Armoskaite et al. 2011; Cheong et al. 2005). Baba et al. (2016) reported that the prolonged extraction time decreases the antioxidant capacity and polyphenols of green tea due to the thermal degradation of the antioxidant components.

In our results, green tea showed highest TPC 778.534 mg GAE/g as compared to black tea and mate. The total phenolic content in green tea was reported as higher than in black tea also by Almajano et al. (2008). Turkmen et al. (2006) demonstrated that in black tea, polyphenol contents were determined by ferrous tartrate method ranged from 2.1 to 131.9 mg GAE/g and Folin-Ciocalteu method from 1.8 to 99.8 mg GAE/g (in our results from 283.823 to 650.554 mg GAE/g) by using 50% dimethylformamide solvent. In case of mate, polyphenol content ranged from 3.6 to 132.5 mg/g by ferrous tartrate method and from 2.6 to 120.4 mg GAE/g (in our results from 448.79 to 543.308 mg GAE/g) by Folin-Ciocalteu method by using (50% acetone solvent) because solvent with different polarity significantly affect the polyphenol content and antioxidant activity (Goli et al. 200).

SWE is a new technique used for the extraction of less-polar compounds that uses only water for short extraction time. Subcritical water is maintained in a liquid state under high pressure at a temperature between 100 and 374°C. Water at a higher temperature weakens the hydrogen bonds and makes subcritical water more similar to less-polar organic solvents by increasing the solubility of less polar phenolics compounds (Ayala et al. 2001; Teo et al. 2010). Combining subcritical water with an organic solvent such as ethanol and methanol has also been used to improve the yield, extraction time and solubility of compounds (Kwon & Chung 2015; Pronyk & Mazza 2009).

In present study, teas and tea-like plant extracts obtained by two extraction methods were compared. In SWE, different fractions were obtained by following different extraction time and these fractions were compared while in WI only one fraction was followed. It is important to optimise the extraction time and temperature to minimise energy cost of the process (Spigno & De Faveri 2007). The effect of extraction time on the polyphenolic content of green tea extracts reveals that with increasing the extraction time from 20 to 40 min, the polyphenolic content in the extract significantly increased from 120.79 to 137.59 GAE/g and 116.59 to 131.37 GAE/g respectively, but further increasing the extraction time up to 120 min decreased the polyphenols (Randhiret et al. 2008). Our results had similar trend, that after 5 minutes of extraction, TPC was highest, however, in all ten-minute TPC was lower while highest polyphenolic content was obtained in SWE 2nd 5min fractions (778.54 mg GAE/g and 650.554 mg GAE/g) but it was decreased in 10min fractions (543.29 mg GAE/g and 414.79 mg GAE/g) in both green and black tea. Silva et al. (2007) reported that extended extraction time causes the decomposition and structural destruction of the phenolic compounds even some phenolic compounds can be denatured at high extraction temperature. The studies of Zielinski et al. (2016) optimized the extraction process of phenolic compounds in tea, and optimum conditions were 10min extraction time at 66°C by using 30% ethanol solution.

The study of Perva-Uzunalić et al. (2006) observed the tendency of catechins to degrade during prolonged extraction time in green tea and found highest extraction efficiency at 80°C for 20-30 min of extraction. In another study, the highest TPC (47.5 mg GAE/g) was obtained at the optimum conditions of 60°C extraction temperature and 33min extraction time using ethanol. In study of Kim et al. (2016) the optimization of the TPC, antioxidant activity and EGCG of green tea leaves was evaluated by following extraction times (3-15 min) and extraction temperatures (10-70°C) at different concentrations of ethanol. While the maximum antioxidant activity was obtained at 70°C for 15 min in ethanol.

7. Conclusions

In our study, antioxidant activity and TPC of different SWE fractions (1st 2min, 2nd 2min, 3rd 2min, 4th 2min, and 5th 2min; 1st 5min and 2nd 5min, and 10min) and water infusion (WI 10min) of green tea, black tea, and mate extracts were compared and statistically compared through student's T-test. SWE is an efficient extraction method that does not use an organic solvent to extract phenolic content and can provide extracts having high biological activities by preventing any toxicity solvents. Our results showed that in C. sinensis – green tea, SWE 2nd 5min fractions showed the strongest antioxidant activity evaluated by ORAC assay (IC₅₀ 6.50 µg/mL), DPPH assay (IC₅₀ 9.73 µg/mL) and highest TPC evaluated by Folin-Ciocalteu assay (778.53 mg GAE/g). Similarly, in C. sinensis – black tea, SWE 2nd 5min fractions the strongest antioxidant activity IC₅₀ 6.43 µg/mL was evaluated with ORAC assay, IC₅₀ 16.23 µg/mL with DPPH assay and highest TPC 650.55 mg GAE/g by Folin-Ciocalteu assay. On the other hand, in case of mate, the strongest antioxidant activity having IC50 5.55 µg/mL was evaluated by ORAC assay in SWE 3rd 2min fractions, and by DPPH assay strongest antioxidant activity was evaluated in SWE 4th 2min having IC₅₀ 29.16 μg/mL and highest TPC 543.30 mg GAE/g by Folin-Ciocalteu assay in SWE 4th 2min fractions. However, in case of WI antioxidant activity and TPC was weaker in many cases as compared to SWE. Different fractions also showed significant difference (p < 0.05) with each other evaluated by student T-test. The Pearson product moment correlation showed a strong correlation between DPPH and TPC (r = 0.75).

It can be seen from our studies that the antioxidant activity and TPC yield is affected by different extraction time. As SWE 2nd 5min fraction showed strongest antioxidant activity and TPC in green and black tea. While SWE 1st 2min, 1st 5min in green tea and in black tea showed weakest antioxidant activity and TPC. In mate, SWE 3rd 2min and 4th 2min showed strongest whereas SWE 1st 2min, 10min and WI 10min showed weakest antioxidant activity and TPC. Temperature is also the key factor in SWE due to which different reactions may occur leading to differences in the chemical composition of final extract thus affecting the overall bioactivity. SWE is also an environmentally eco-friendly, faster, and cost-effective extraction technique used in different fields such as foods, pharmaceutical and cosmetics in addition to be a promising method for fractionation.

8. References

Abdelmoez W, Nakahasi T, Yoshida H. 2007. Amino Acid Transformation and Decomposition in Saturated Subcritical Water Conditions. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research **46**:5286-5294.

Abdelmoez W, Yoshida H. 2006. Simulation of fast reactions in batch reactors under sub-critical water condition. AIChE Journal **52**:3600-3611.

Agati G, Azzarello E, Pollastri S, Tattini M. 2012. Flavonoids as antioxidants in plants: Location and functional significance. Plant Science **196**:67-76.

Ahmad M, Baba WN, Gani A, Wani TA, Gani A, Masoodi FA, Yildiz F. 2015. Effect of extraction time on antioxidants and bioactive volatile components of green tea (Camellia sinensis), using GC/MS. Cogent Food & Agriculture 1:1-11.

Aldini G, Altomare A, Baron G, Vistoli G, Carini M, Borsani L, Sergio F. 2018. N-Acetylcysteine as an antioxidant and disulphide breaking agent: the reasons why. Free Radical Research **52**:751-762.

Al-Hatim RR, Al-Alnabi DIB, Al-Younis ZK, Al-Shawi SG, Singh K, Abdelbasset WK, Mustafa YF. 2022. Extraction of tea polyphenols based on orthogonal test method and its application in food preservation. Food Science and Technology 42 (70321) DOI: 10.1590/fst.70321.

Al-Khayri JM, Mascarenhas R, Harish HM, Gowda Y, Lakshmaiah VV, Nagella P, Al-Mssallem MQ, Alessa FM, Almaghasla MI, Rezk AA-S. 2023. Stilbenes, a Versatile Class of Natural Metabolites for Inflammation-An Overview. Molecules 28 (3786) DOI: 10.3390/molecules28093786.

Almajano MP, Carbó R, Jiménez JAL, Gordon MH. 2008. Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of tea infusions. Food Chemistry **108**:55-63.

Alscher RG, Donahue JL, Cramer CL. 1997. Reactive oxygen species and antioxidants: Relationships in green cells. Physiologia Plantarum **100**:224-233.

Alvarez-Rivera G, Bueno M, Ballesteros-Vivas D, Mendiola JA, Ibañez E. 2020. Pressurized Liquid Extraction. Pages 375-398 in Poole CF, editor. Liquid phase extraction: Handbooks in Separation Science. Elsevier, Oxford, United Kingdom.

Alvi AF, Iqbal N, Albaqami M, Khan NA. 2023. The emerging key role of reactive sulfur species in abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Physiologia Plantarum 175 (13945) DOI: 10.1111/ppl.13945.

Alvira P, Tomás-Pejó E, Ballesteros M, Negro MJ. 2010. Pretreatment technologies for an efficient bioethanol production process based on enzymatic hydrolysis: A review. Bioresource Technology **101**:4851-4861.

Ansari N, Khodagholi F. 2013. Natural Products as Promising Drug Candidates for the Treatment of Alzheimer's disease: Molecular Mechanism Aspect. Current Neuropharmacology **11**:414-429.

Armoskaite V, Ramanauskiene K, Maruska A, Razukas A, Dagilyte A, Baranauskas A, Briedis V. 2011. The analysis of quality and antioxidant activity of green tea extracts. Journal of Medicinal Plants Research *5*:811-816.

Aroca A, Gotor C, Romero LC. 2018. Hydrogen Sulfide Signaling in Plants: Emerging Roles of Protein Persulfidation. Frontiers in Plant Science **9**:1-8.

Arora A, Sairam R K, Srivastava G C. 2002. Oxidative stress and antioxidative system in plants. Current Science **82**:1227–1238.

Astin JA, Pelletier KR, Marie A, Haskell, WL. 2000. Complementary and alternative medicine use among elderly persons: one-year analysis. The Journals of Gerontology **55**:4-9.

Ayala RS, De Castro ML. 2001. Continuous subcritical water extraction as a useful tool for isolation of edible essential oils. Food Chemistry **75**: 109–113.

Azmir J, Zaidul ISM, Rahman MM, Sharif KM, Mohamed A, Sahena F, Jahurul MHA, Ghafoor K, Norulaini NAN, Omar AKM. 2013. Techniques for extraction of bioactive compounds from plant materials: A review. Journal of Food Engineering **117**:426-436.

Baba WN, Rashid I, Shah A, Ahmad M, Gani A, Masoodi FA, Wani IA, Wani SM. 2016. Effect of microwave roasting on antioxidant and anticancer activities of barley flour. Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences **15**:12-19.

Bagade SB, Patil M. 2021. Recent Advances in Microwave Assisted Extraction of Bioactive Compounds from Complex Herbal Samples: A Review. Critical Reviews in Analytical Chemistry **51**:138-149.

Baiano A, Del Nobile MA. 2015. Antioxidant Compounds from Vegetable Matrices: Biosynthesis, Occurrence, and Extraction Systems. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition **56**:2053-2068.

Bako I G, Mabrouk M A, Abubakar A.2009. Antioxidant effect of ethanolic seed extract of Hibiscus sabdariffa Linn (Malvaceae) alleviate the toxicity induced by chronic administration of sodium nitrate on some haematological parameters in Wistars rats. Advance Journal of Food Science and Technology **1(1)**: 39–42.

Balasundram N, Sundram K, Samman S. 2006. Phenolic compounds in plants and agri-industrial by-products: Antioxidant activity, occurrence, and potential uses. Food Chemistry **99**:191-203.

Ballaz SJ, Rebec GV. 2019. Neurobiology of vitamin C: Expanding the focus from antioxidant to endogenous neuromodulator. Pharmacological Research 146 (104321) DOI: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104321.

Banerjee J, Singh R, Vijayaraghavan R, MacFarlane D, Patti AF, Arora A. 2017. Bioactives from fruit processing wastes: Green approaches to valuable chemicals. Food Chemistry **225**:10-22.

Bartoli CG, Buet A, Gergoff GG, Galatro A, Simontacchi M. 2017. Ascorbate-glutathione cycle and abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Pages 177-200 in Hossain M, Munné-Bosch S, Burritt D, Diaz-Vivancos P, Fujita M, Lorence A, editors. Ascorbic Acid in Plant Growth, Development and Stress Tolerance. Springer. Cham, Switzerland.

Basak S, Annapure US. 2022. The potential of subcritical water as a "green" method for the extraction and modification of pectin: A critical review. Food Research International 161 (111849) DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2022.111849.

Bennett Richardn, Wallsgrove Rogerm. 1994. Secondary metabolites in plant defense mechanisms. New Phytologist **127**:617-633.

Berger UV, Lu X-CM, Liu W, Tang Z, Slusher BS, Hediger MA. 2003. Effect of middle cerebral artery occlusion on mRNA expression for the sodium-coupled vitamin C transporter SVCT2 in rat brain. Journal of Neurochemistry **86**:896-906.

Bhattacharyya A, Chattopadhyay R, Mitra S, Crowe SE. 2014. Oxidative Stress: An Essential Factor in the Pathogenesis of Gastrointestinal Mucosal Diseases. Physiological Reviews **94**:329-354.

Burnett K. 2021. Brewing times for types of tea. Available from https://ladybakerstea.com/blogs/blog/brewing-times-for-types-of-tea (accessed April 2024).

Bolade M K, Oluwalana I B, Ojo O. 2009. Commercial practice of roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) beverage production: Optimization of hot water extraction and sweetness level. World Journal of Agricultural Sciences **5(1)**: 126–131.

Bracesco N, Sanchez AG, Contreras V, Menini T, Gugliucci A. 2011. Recent advances on Ilex paraguariensis research: Minireview. Journal of Ethnopharmacology **136**:378-384.

Cabrera C, Artacho R, Giménez R. 2006. Beneficial Effects of Green Tea-A Review. Journal of the American College of Nutrition **25**:79-99.

Cao G, Muccitelli HU, Sánchez-Moreno C, Prior RL. 2001. Anthocyanins are absorbed in glycated forms in elderly women: a pharmacokinetic study. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **73**:920-926.

Carlsen MH et al. 2010. The total antioxidant content of more than 3100 foods, beverages, spices, herbs and supplements used worldwide. Nutrition Journal **9**:1-11.

Carocho M, Ferreira ICFR. 2013. A review on antioxidants, prooxidants and related controversy: Natural and synthetic compounds, screening and analysis methodologies and future perspectives. Food and Chemical Toxicology **51**:15-25.

Carr MK. 2018. Advances in tea agronomy. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Cassidy L, Fernandez F, Johnson JB, Naiker M, Owoola AG, Broszczak DA. 2020. Oxidative stress in alzheimer's disease: A review on emergent natural polyphenolic therapeutics. Complementary Therapies in Medicine 49 (102294) DOI: 10.1016/j.ctim.2019.102294.

Cathcart AE, Thurnham DI. 1998. Thiamin-Physiology. Pages 1858–1863 in Sadler MJ, Strain JJ, Caballero B, editors. Encyclopedia of Human Nutrition. Academic Press, New York.

Chan CH, Yusoff R, Ngoh GC, Kung FW-L. 2011. Microwave-assisted extractions of active ingredients from plants. Journal of Chromatography A **1218**:6213-6225.

Chan EWC, Lim YY, Chew YL. 2007. Antioxidant activity of Camellia sinensis leaves and tea from a lowland plantation in Malaysia. Food Chemistry **102**:1214-1222.

Chan EWC, Tie PP, Soh EY, Law YP. 2011. Antioxidant and antibacterial properties of green, black, and herbal teas of Camellia sinensis. Pharmacognosy Research 3:266-272.

Chanda S, Dave R.2009. In vitro models for antioxidant activity evaluation and some medicinal plants possessing antioxidant properties: An overview. African Journal of Microbiology Research **3(13):** 981–996.

Chen M, Zhu Y, Zhang H, Wang J, Liu X, Chen Z, Zheng M, Liu B. 2017. Phenolic compounds and the biological effects of Pu-erh teas with long-term storage. International Journal of Food Properties **20**:1715-1728.

Chen W, Sudji IR, Wang E, Joubert E, van Wyk BE, Wink M. 2013. Ameliorative effect of aspalathin from rooibos (Aspalathus linearis) on acute oxidative stress in Caenorhabditis elegans. Phytomedicine **20**:380-386.

Cheng Y, Xue F, Yu S, Du S, Yang Y. 2021. Subcritical Water Extraction of Natural Products. Molecules 26 (4004) DOI: 10.3390/molecules26134004.

Cheong WJ, Park MH, Kang GW, Ko JH, Seo YJ. 2005. Determination of catechin compounds in Korean green tea Infusions under various extraction conditions by high performance liquid chromatography. Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society **26**:747-754.

Choe E, Min DB. 2009. Mechanisms of Antioxidants in the Oxidation of Foods. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety **8**:345-358.

Chopade VV, Phatak AA, Upaganlawar AB, Tankar AA.2008. Green tea (Camellia sinensis): Chemistry, Traditional, Medicinal uses and its pharmacological activities- a review. Pharmacognosy Reviews **2(3):**157-162.

Choudhury FK, Rivero RM, Blumwald E, Mittler R. 2017. Reactive oxygen species, abiotic stress and stress combination. The Plant Journal **90**:856-867.

Colinas M, Fitzpatrick TB. 2015. Natures balancing act: examining biosynthesis de novo, recycling and processing damaged vitamin B metabolites. Current Opinion in Plant Biology **25**:98-106.

Coppock RW, Dziwenka M. 2016. Green Tea Extract. Pages 633-652 in Gupta RC, editor. Nutraceuticals: Efficacy, Safety and Toxicity. Academic Press, London, United Kingdom.

Cuypers A et al. 2016. Hydrogen Peroxide, Signaling in Disguise during Metal Phytotoxicity. Frontiers in Plant Science 7:1-25.

Da-Costa-Rocha I, Bonnlaender B, Sievers H, Pischel I, Heinrich M. 2014. Hibiscus sabdariffa L.A phytochemical and pharmacological review. Food Chemistry **165**:424-443.

Dai YL, Li Y, Wang Q, Niu FJ, Li KW, Wang YY, Wang J, Zhou CZ, Gao LN. 2023. Chamomile: A Review of Its Traditional Uses, Chemical Constituents, Pharmacological Activities and Quality Control Studies. Molecules 28 (133) DOI: 10.3390/molecules 28010133.

Dalimartha S. 1999. Atlas of Indonesian medicinal plants. Trubus Agriwidya. Jakarta.

Das K, Roychoudhury A. 2014. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and response of antioxidants as ROS-scavengers during environmental stress in plants. Frontiers in Environmental Science 2 (53) DOI: 10.3389/fenvs.2014.00053.

Decker EA, Ivanov V, Zhu B-Z, Frei B. 2001. Inhibition of Low-Density Lipoprotein Oxidation by Carnosine and Histidine. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **49**:511-516.

Del Río LA. 2015. ROS and RNS in plant physiology: an overview. Journal of Experimental Botany **66**:2827-2837.

Delacassa E, Bandoni AL. 2001. The Mate. Phytotherapy magazine 4(1):257–265.

Desai M, Parikh J, Parikh PA. 2010. Extraction of Natural Products Using Microwaves as a Heat Source. Separation & Purification Reviews **39**:1-32.

Dias MI, Barros L, Morales P, Sánchez-Mata MC, Oliveira MBPP, Ferreira ICFR. 2015. Nutritional parameters of infusions and decoctions obtained from Fragaria vesca L. roots and vegetative parts. LWT - Food Science and Technology **62**:32-38.

Dufresne CJ, Farnworth ER. 2001. A review of latest research findings on the health promotion properties of tea. The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry **12**:404-421.

Duthie G, Crozier A. 2000. Plant-derived phenolic antioxidants. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care 3:447-451.

Elbini Dhouib I, Jallouli M, Annabi A, Gharbi N, Elfazaa S, Lasram MM. 2016. A minireview on N-acetylcysteine: An old drug with new approaches. Life Sciences **151**:359-363.

Essien SO, Young B, Baroutian S. 2020. Recent advances in subcritical water and supercritical carbon dioxide extraction of bioactive compounds from plant materials. Trends in Food Science & Technology **97**:156-169.

Evans JD. 1996. Straightforward Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences. Pacific Grove: Brooks/Cole Pub, California.

Farhoosh R, Golmovahhed GA, Khodaparast MHH. 2007. Antioxidant activity of various extracts of old tea leaves and black tea wastes (Camellia sinensis L.). Food Chemistry **100**:231-236.

Farooq MA, Niazi AK, Akhtar J, Saifullah, Farooq M, Souri Z, Karimi N, Rengel Z. 2019. Acquiring control: The evolution of ROS-Induced oxidative stress and redox signaling pathways in plant stress responses. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry **141**:353-369.

Fernández PL, Pablos F, Martín MJ, González AG. 2002. Multi-element analysis of tea beverages by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry. Food Chemistry **76**:483-489.

Fernando CD, Soysa P. 2015. Extraction Kinetics of phytochemicals and antioxidant activity during black tea (Camellia sinensis L.) brewing. Nutrition Journal **14**:1-7.

Filip R, López P, Giberti G, Coussio J, Ferraro G. 2001. Phenolic compounds in seven South American Ilex species. Phytotherapy **72**:774-778.

Filip R, Lotito SB, Ferraro G, Fraga CG. 2000. Antioxidant activity of Ilex paraguariensis and related species. Nutrition Research **20**:1437-1446.

Filip R, Sebastian T, Ferraro G, Anesini C. 2007. Effect of Ilex extracts and isolated compounds on peroxidase secretion of rat submandibulary glands. Food and Chemical Toxicology **45**:649-655.

Fini A, Brunetti C, Di Ferdinando M, Ferrini F, Tattini M. 2011. Stress-induced flavonoid biosynthesis and the antioxidant machinery of plants. Plant Signaling & Behavior **6**:709-711.

Flora S J S, Mittal M, Mehta A. 2008. Heavy metal induced oxidative stress & its possible reversal by chelation therapy. Indian Journal of Medical Research **128(4)**: 501-523.

Forester SC, Lambert JD. 2011. The role of antioxidant versus pro-oxidant effects of green tea polyphenols in cancer prevention. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research **55**:844-854.

Foyer C, Noctor G. 2015. Defining robust redox signalling within the context of the plant cell. Plant, Cell & Environment **38**:239-239.

Foyer CH, Noctor G. 2005. Redox Homeostasis and Antioxidant Signaling: A Metabolic Interface between Stress Perception and Physiological Responses. The Plant Cell **17**:1866-1875.

Frombaum M, Le Clanche S, Bonnefont-Rousselot D, Borderie D. 2012. Antioxidant effects of resveratrol and other stilbene derivatives on oxidative stress and NO bioavailability: Potential benefits to cardiovascular diseases. Biochimie **94**:269-276.

Fu Y-C, Ferng L-HA, Huang P-Y. 2006. Quantitative analysis of allantoin and allantoic acid in yam tuber, mucilage, skin and bulbil of the Dioscorea species. Food Chemistry **94**:541-549.

Fukasawa R, Kanda A, Hara S. 2009. Anti-oxidative Effects of Rooibos Tea Extract on Autoxidation and Thermal Oxidation of Lipids. Journal of Oleo Science **58**:275-283.

Gardner EJ, Ruxton CHS, Leeds AR. 2007. Black tea – helpful or harmful? A review of the evidence. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition **61**:3-18.

Garg A, Sharma R, Dey P, Kumar A. 2022. Food auto-oxidation: An overview. Pages 43-68 in Nabavi SA, Silva AS, editors. Antioxidant Effects in Health: The Bright and the Dark Side. Elsevier, Oxford, United Kingdom.

Gawron-Gzella A, Chanaj-Kaczmarek J, Cielecka-Piontek J. 2021. Yerba Mate-A Long but Current History. Nutrients 13 (3706) DOI: 10.3390/nu13113706.

Gharibzahedi SMT, Jafari SM. 2017. The importance of minerals in human nutrition: Bioavailability, food fortification, processing effects and nanoencapsulation. Trends in Food Science & Technology **62**:119-132.

Giberti GC. 1994. Mate (*Ilex paraguariensis*). Pages 252-254. In Hernándo BJE, León J, editors. Neglected crops: 1492 from a different perspective. Plant Production and Protection Series. Rome, Italy.

Giles GI, Tasker KM, Jacob C. 2001. Hypothesis: the role of reactive sulfur species in oxidative stress. Free Radical Biology and Medicine **31**:1279-1283.

Gill SS, Anjum NA, Hasanuzzaman M, Gill R, Trivedi DK, Ahmad I, Pereira E, Tuteja N. 2013. Glutathione and glutathione reductase: A boon in disguise for plant abiotic stress defense operations. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry **70**:204-212.

Gill SS, Tuteja N. 2010. Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry **48**:909-930.

Goli AH, Barzegar M, Sahari MA. 2005. Antioxidant activity and total phenolic compounds of pistachio (Pistachia vera) hull extracts. Food Chemistry **92**:521-525.

Görgen M, Turatti K, Medeiros AR, Buffon A, Bonan CD, Sarkis JJF, Pereira GS. 2005. Aqueous extract of Ilex paraguariensis decreases nucleotide hydrolysis in rat blood serum. Journal of Ethnopharmacology **97**:73-77.

Griendling KK, Touyz RM, Zweier JL, Dikalov S, Chilian W, Chen Y-R, Harrison DG, Bhatnagar A. 2016. Measurement of Reactive Oxygen Species, Reactive Nitrogen Species, and Redox-Dependent Signaling in the Cardiovascular System. Circulation Research **119**:39-75.

Grigioni G, Carduza F, Irurueta M, Pensel N. 2004. Flavour characteristics of Ilex paraguariensis infusion, a typical Argentine product, assessed by sensory evaluation and electronic nose. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture **84**:427-432.

Gruenwald J. 2007. PDR for Herbal Medicines. Thomson Healthcare, New Jersey.

Gruhlke MCH, Slusarenko AJ. 2012. The biology of reactive sulfur species (RSS). Plant Physiology and Biochemistry **59**:98-107.

Guédon Y, Costes E, Rakocevic M. 2018. Modulation of the yerba-mate metamer production phenology by the cultivation system and the climatic factors. Ecological Modelling **384**:188-197.

Guerrero L et al. 2010. Perception of traditional food products in six European regions using free word association. Food Quality and Preference **21**:225-233.

Gypmantasiri P, Sriboonchitta S, Wiboonpongse A. 2001. Policies for agricultural sustainability in northern Thailand. International Institute for Environment and Development, Thailand.

Hallé F, Oldeman RAA, Tomlinson PB. 1978. Tropical Trees and Forests-An Architectural Analysis. Springer, Berlin, Germany.

Halliwell B. 2007. Biochemistry of oxidative stress. Biochemical Society Transactions **35**:1147-1150.

Hamano Y. 1999. Effects of thiamine and clenbuterol on body composition, plasma metabolites and hepatic oxygen consumption in broiler chicks. British Poultry Science **40**:127-130.

Hanani E, Munim A, Sekarini R. 2005. Identification of senyawa antioksidan dalam spons callyspongia sp dari kepulauaseribu. Majalah Ilmu Kefarmasian **2**:127-133.

Harborne JB. 1998. Phytochemical Methods: A Guide to Modern Techniques of Plant Analysis. Chapman and Hall Ltd, London.

Harbourne N, Jacquier JC, O'Riordan D. 2009. Optimisation of the extraction and processing conditions of chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.) for incorporation into a beverage. Food Chemistry **115**:15-19.

Hasanuzzaman M, Bhuyan MHMB, Anee TI, Parvin K, Nahar K, Mahmud JA, Fujita M. 2019. Regulation of Ascorbate-Glutathione Pathway in Mitigating Oxidative Damage in Plants under Abiotic Stress. Antioxidants 8 (384) DOI: 10.3390/antiox8090384.

Hasanuzzaman M, Nahar K, Anee TI, Fujita M. 2017. Glutathione in plants: biosynthesis and physiological role in environmental stress tolerance. Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants **23**:249-268.

Hashim AM, Alharbi BM, Abdulmajeed AM, Elkelish A, Hozzein WN, Hassan HM. 2020. Oxidative Stress Responses of Some Endemic Plants to High Altitudes by Intensifying Antioxidants and Secondary Metabolites Content. Plants 9 (869) DOI: 10.3390/plants9070869.

Heck CI, De Mejia EG. 2007. Yerba Mate Tea (Ilex paraguariensis): A Comprehensive Review on Chemistry, Health Implications, and Technological Considerations. Journal of Food Science **72**:138-151.

Heinrichs R, Malavolta E.2001. Mineral composition of a commercial product from mate-herb (Ilex paraguariensis St. Hil.). Rural Science **31**:781-785.

Herrero M, Cifuentes A, Ibanez E. 2006. Sub- and supercritical fluid extraction of functional ingredients from different natural sources: Plants, food-by-products, algae and microalgae A review. Food Chemistry **98**:136-148.

Hildebrandt TM, Nunes NA, Araújo WL, Braun HP. 2015. Amino Acid Catabolism in Plants. Molecular Plant **8**:1563-1579.

Hong Y-H, Jung EY, Noh DO, Suh HJ. 2014. Physiological effects of formulation containing tannase-converted green tea extract on skin care: physical stability, collagenase, elastase, and tyrosinase activities. Integrative Medicine Research 3:25-33.

Hu CH, Wang PQ, Zhang PP, Nie XM, Li BB, Tai L, Liu WT, Li WQ, Chen KM. 2020. NADPH Oxidases: The Vital Performers and Center Hubs during Plant Growth and Signaling. Cells 9 (437) DOI: 10.3390/cells9020437.

Huang D, Ou B, Hampsch-Woodill M, Flanagan JA, Deemer EK. 2002. Development and Validation of Oxygen Radical Absorbance Capacity Assay for Lipophilic Antioxidants Using Randomly Methylated β -Cyclodextrin as the Solubility Enhancer. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **50**:1815-1821.

Ida T et al. 2014. Reactive cysteine persulfides and S-polythiolation regulate oxidative stress and redox signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **111**:7606-7611.

Indarti K, Apriani EF, Wibowo AE, Simanjuntak P. 2019. Antioxidant Activity of Ethanolic Extract and Various Fractions from Green Tea (Camellia sinensis L.) Leaves. Pharmacognosy Journal 11:771-776.

Jacotet-Navarro M, Rombaut N, Deslis S, Fabiano-Tixier A-S, Pierre F-X, Bily A, Chemat F. 2016. Towards a "dry" bio-refinery without solvents or added water using microwaves and ultrasound for total valorization of fruit and vegetable by-products. Green Chemistry **18**:3106-3115.

Jain DP, Pancholi SS, Patel R. 2011. Synergistic antioxidant activity of green tea with some herbs. Journal of Advanced Pharmaceutical Technology & Research 2:177-183.

Jaleel CA, Riadh K, Gopi R, Manivannan P, Inès J, Al-Juburi HJ, Chang-Xing Z, Hong-BS, Panneerselvam R. 2009. Antioxidant defense responses: physiological plasticity in higher plants under abiotic constraints. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum **31**:427-436.

Ji M, Gong X, Li X, Wang C, Li M. 2020. Advanced Research on the Antioxidant Activity and Mechanism of Polyphenols from Hippophae Species-A Review. Molecules 25 (917) DOI: 10.3390/molecules25040917.

Jiang T, Sun Q, Chen S. 2016. Oxidative stress: A major pathogenesis and potential therapeutic target of antioxidative agents in Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease. Progress in Neurobiology **147**:1-19.

Jomova K, Valko M. 2013. Health protective effects of carotenoids and their interactions with other biological antioxidants. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry **70**:102-110.

Joubert E, Gelderblom WCA, Louw A, de Beer D. 2008. South African herbal teas: Aspalathus linearis, Cyclopia spp. and Athrixia phylicoides-A review. Journal of Ethnopharmacology **119**:376-412.

Jung IL, Kim IG. 2003. Thiamine protects against paraquat-induced damage: scavenging activity of reactive oxygen species. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology **15**:19-26.

Kaneria MJ, Bapodara MB, Chanda SV. 2012. Effect of Extraction Techniques and Solvents on Antioxidant Activity of Pomegranate (Punica granatum L.) Leaf and Stem. Food Analytical Methods **5**:396-404.

Karioti A, Bilia AR, Gabbiani C, Messori L, Skaltsa H. 2009. Proanthocyanidin glycosides from the leaves of Quercus ilex L. (Fagaceae). Tetrahedron Letters **50**:1771-1776.

Kasote DM, Hegde MV, Katyare SS. 2013. Mitochondrial dysfunction in psychiatric and neurological diseases: Cause(s), consequence(s), and implications of antioxidant therapy. BioFactors **39**:392-406.

Katiyar SK, Mukhtar H. 2001. Green tea polyphenol (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate treatment to mouse skin prevents UVB-induced infiltration of leukocytes, depletion of antigen-presenting cells, and oxidative stress. Journal of Leukocyte Biology **69**:719-726.

Kavi Kishor PB, Suravajhala P, Rathnagiri P, Sreenivasulu N. 2022. Intriguing Role of Proline in Redox Potential Conferring High Temperature Stress Tolerance. Frontiers in Plant Science 13 (867531) DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2022.867531.

Kawakami M, Chairote G, Kobayashi A. 1987. Flavor constituents of pickled tea, miang, in Thailand. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry **51**:1683-1687.

Kesse-Guyot E, Andreeva VA, Ducros V, Jeandel C, Julia C, Hercberg S, Galan P. 2014. Carotenoid-rich dietary patterns during midlife and subsequent cognitive function. British Journal of Nutrition **111**:915-923.

Khadem S, Marles RJ. 2012. Chromone and Flavonoid Alkaloids: Occurrence and Bioactivity. Molecules 17:191-206.

Khan MN, Mobin M, Mohammad F, Corpas FJ. 2014. Nitric oxide in plants: metabolism and role in stress physiology. Cham; Springer international publishing.

Khan N, Mukhtar H. 2019. Tea Polyphenols in Promotion of Human Health. Nutrients 11 (39) DOI: 10.3390/nu11010039.

Kim K, Kim MI, Chung J, Ahn JH, Rhee S. 2009. Crystal Structure of Metal-Dependent Allantoinase from Escherichia coli. Journal of Molecular Biology **387**:1067-1074.

Kim MJ, Ahn JH, Kim SB, Jo YH, Liu Q, Hwang BY, Lee MK. 2016. Effect of Extraction Conditions of Green Tea on Antioxidant Activity and EGCG Content: Optimization using Response Surface Methodology. Natural Product Sciences **22**:270-274.

Kim S, Sieburth D. 2018. Sphingosine Kinase Regulates Neuropeptide Secretion During the Oxidative Stress-Response Through Intertissue Signaling. The Journal of Neuroscience **38**:8160-8176.

Koch IS, Muller M, Joubert E, Van der Rijst M, Næs T. 2012. Sensory characterization of rooibos tea and the development of a rooibos sensory wheel and lexicon. Food Research International **46**:217-228.

Koch W, Zagorska j, Marzec Z, Kukula Koch W. 2019. Applications of Tea (Camellia sinensis) and its Active Constituents in Cosmetics. Molecules 24 (4277) DOI: 10.3390/molecules24234277.

Koffi E, Sea T, Dodehe Y, Soro S.2010. Effect of solvent type on extraction of polyphenols from twenty-three Ivorian plants. Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences **5**:550-558.

Kohen R, Nyska A. 2002. Invited Review: Oxidation of Biological Systems. Toxicologic Pathology **30**:620-650.

Krishnaiah D, Sarbatly R, Nithyanandam R. 2011. A review of the antioxidant potential of medicinal plant species. Food and Bioproducts Processing **89**:217-233.

Kumar N, Goel N. 2019. Phenolic acids: Natural versatile molecules with promising therapeutic applications. Biotechnology Reports 24 (00370) DOI: 10.1016/j.btre.2019.e00370. Kwon HL, Chung MS. 2015. Pilot-scale subcritical solvent extraction of curcuminoids from Curcuma long L. Food Chemistry **185**:58-64.

Kumar S, Pandey AK. 2013. Chemistry and Biological Activities of Flavonoids: An Overview. The Scientific World Journal **2013**:1-16.

Kyle JAM, Morrice PC, McNeill G, Duthie GG. 2007. Effects of Infusion Time and Addition of Milk on Content and Absorption of Polyphenols from Black Tea. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **55**:4889-4894.

La Fata G, Van Vliet N. Barnhoorn S, Brandt R. M. C, Etheve S, Chenal E, et al. 2017. Vitamin E supplementation reduces cellular loss in the brain of a premature aging mouse model. J Prev Alzheimers Dis 4:226-235.

Lamberto I, Percudani R, Gatti R, Folli C, Petrucco S. 2010. Conserved Alternative Splicing of Arabidopsis Transthyretin-Like Determines Protein Localization and S -Allantoin Synthesis in Peroxisomes. The Plant Cell **22**:1564-1574.

Landete JM. 2012. Plant and mammalian lignans: A review of source, intake, metabolism, intestinal bacteria and health. Food Research International **46**:410-424.

Leszczyński M, Roman K. 2023. Hot-Water Extraction (HWE) Method as Applied to Lignocellulosic Materials from Hemp Stalk. Energies 16 (4750) DOI: 10.3390/en16124750.

Leung AY, Foster S. 1996. Encyclopedia of common natural ingredients used in food, drugs, and cosmetics. John Wiley and Sons, New York.

Lewinski CS, Gonçalves IL, Piovezan Borges AC, Dartora N, de Souza LM, Valduga AT. 2015. Effects of UV light on the physic-chemical properties of yerba-mate. Nutrition & Food Science **45**:221-228.

Li B, Akram M, Al-Zuhair S, Elnajjar E, Munir MT. 2020. Subcritical water extraction of phenolics, antioxidants and dietary fibres from waste date pits. Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering 8 (104490) DOI: 10.1016/j.jece.2020.104490.

Li P, Yin Z-Q, Li S-L, Huang X-J, Ye W-C, Zhang Q-W. 2014. Simultaneous determination of eight flavonoids and pogostone in pogostemon cablin by high performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies **37**:1771-1784.

Li S, Tan HY, Wang N, Zhang ZJ, Lao L, Wong CW, Feng Y. 2015. The Role of Oxidative Stress and Antioxidants in Liver Diseases. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 16:26087-26124.

Lin D et al. 2016. An Overview of Plant Phenolic Compounds and Their Importance in Human Nutrition and Management of Type 2 Diabetes. Molecules 21 (1374) DOI: 10.3390/molecules21101374.

Liu JY et al. 2021. Effects of bioactive components of Pu-erh tea on gut microbiomes and health: A review. Food Chemistry 353 (129439) DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.129439.

Lushchak OV, Piroddi M, Galli F, Lushchak VI. 2013. Aconitase post-translational modification as a key in linkage between Krebs cycle, iron homeostasis, redox signaling, and metabolism of reactive oxygen species. Redox Report **19**:8-15.

Magoulas G, Papaioannou D. 2014. Bioinspired Syntheses of Dimeric Hydroxycinnamic Acids (Lignans) and Hybrids, Using Phenol Oxidative Coupling as Key Reaction, and Medicinal Significance Thereof. Molecules **19**:19769-19835.

Manach C, Scalbert A, Morand C, Rémésy C, Jiménez L. 2004. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **79**:727-747.

Marchand F, Desharnais J. 2014. Tea: History, Terroirs, Varieties. Firefly Books. Gascoyne K, Marchand F, Desharnais J, Américi H.2014. Tea: History, Terroirs, Varieties. Firefly Books, Ontario, Canada.

Maslov O, Kolisnyk S, Komisarenko M, Golik M. 2022. Study of total antioxidant activity of green tea leaves (Camellia sinensis L.). Herba Polonica **68**:1-9.

Mazaheri H, Lee KT, Bhatia S, Mohamed AR. 2010. Subcritical water liquefaction of oil palm fruit press fiber in the presence of sodium hydroxide: An optimization study using response surface methodology. Bioresource Technology **101**:9335-9341.

Mazokopakis EE, Vrentzos GE, Papadakis JA, Babalis DE, Ganotakis ES. 2005. Wild chamomile (Matricaria recutita L.) mouthwashes in methotrexate-induced oral mucositis. Phytomedicine **12**:25-27.

McKay DL, Blumberg JB. 2006. A Review of the bioactivity and potential health benefits of chamomile tea (Matricaria recutita L.). Phytotherapy Research **20**:519-530.

Meegahakumbura MK et al. 2018. Domestication Origin and Breeding History of the Tea Plant (Camellia sinensis) in China and India Based on Nuclear Microsatellites and cpDNA Sequence Data. Frontiers in Plant Science 8 (2270) DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2017.02270.

Mendilcioglu K. 2000. Tea growth techniques. Ege University Agricultural Faculty, Berlin.

Menendez-Baceta G, Aceituno-Mata L, Tardío J, Reyes-García V, Pardo-de-Santayana M. 2012. Wild edible plants traditionally gathered in Gorbeialdea (Biscay, Basque Country). Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution **59**:1329-1347.

Mhamdi A, Han Y, Noctor G. 2014. Glutathione-dependent phytohormone responses. Plant Signaling & Behavior 8 (24181) DOI: 10.4161/psb.24181.

Michalak A.2006. Phenolic compounds and their antioxidant activity in plants growing under heavy metal stress. Polish Journal of Environmental Study **15**:523-530.

Mirończuk-Chodakowska I, Witkowska AM, Zujko ME. 2018. Endogenous non-enzymatic antioxidants in the human body. Advances in Medical Sciences **63**:68-78.

Mittler R. 2002. Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends in Plant Science **7**:405-410.

Monteiro J, Alves M, Oliveira P, Silva B. 2016. Structure-Bioactivity Relationships of Methylxanthines: Trying to Make Sense of All the Promises and the Drawbacks. Molecules 21 (974) DOI: 10.3390/molecules21080974.

Moskovitz J. 2005. Methionine sulfoxide reductases: ubiquitous enzymes involved in antioxidant defense, protein regulation, and prevention of aging-associated diseases. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Proteins and Proteomics **1703**:213-219.

Mougne C, MacLennan R, Atsana S. 1982. Smoking, chewing and drinking in Ban Pong, Northern Thailand. Social Science & Medicine **16**:99-106.

Nadarajah KK. 2020. ROS Homeostasis in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 21 (5208) DOI: 10.3390/ijms21155208.

Nagumo M, Ninomiya M, Oshima N, Itoh T, Tanaka K, Nishina A, Koketsu M. 2019. Comparative analysis of stilbene and benzofuran neolignan derivatives as acetylcholinesterase inhibitors with neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory activities. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters **29**:2475-2479.

Neuwinger HD. 2000. African Traditional Medicine, a Dictionary of Plant Use and Applications. Medpharm scientific Publishers, Germany.

Nga NTT, Quang DD. 2019. Unraveling the antioxidant potential of thiamine: Thermochemical and kinetics studies in aqueous phase using DFT. Vietnam Journal of Chemistry **57**:485-490.

Nisar N, Li L, Lu S, Khin N C, Pogson B J. 2015. Carotenoid Metabolism in Plants. Molecular Plant **8**:68-82.

Noctor G, Mhamdi A, Chaouch S, Han Y, Neukermans J, Marquez-Garcia B, Queval G, H. FOYER C. 2012. Glutathione in plants: an integrated overview. Plant, Cell & Environment **35**:454-484.

Nourimand M, Todd CD. 2016. Allantoin Increases Cadmium Tolerance in Arabidopsis via Activation of Antioxidant Mechanisms. Plant and Cell Physiology **57**:2485-2496.

Okai Y, Higashi-Okai K, F. Sato E, Konaka R, Inoue M. 2007. Potent Radical-Scavenging Activities of Thiamin and Thiamin Diphosphate. Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition **40**:42-48.

Olaniyi OO, Odeyemi OA, Adewale BD, Oloyede AA, Anagbogu CF, Adeigbe, OO, Adenuga OO. 2014. Tea (Camellia sinensis) breeding in Nigeria: past and present status. International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications. **9**:1-4.

Olson, K. R. (2019). Hydrogen sulfide, reactive sulfur species and coping with reactive oxygen species. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, **140**:74-83.

Omara FO, Blakley BR, Bernier J, Fournier M. 1997. Immunomodulatory and protective effects of N-acetylcysteine in mitogen-activated murine splenocytes in vitro. Toxicology **116**:219-226.

Ou B, Hampsch-Woodill M, Prior RL. 2001. Development and validation of an improved oxygen radical absorbance capacity assay using fluorescein as the fluorescent probe. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 49: 4619–4626.

Paiva L, Lima E, Motta M, Marcone M, Baptista J. 2021. Influence of Seasonal and Yearly Variation on Phenolic Profiles, Caffeine, and Antioxidant Activities of Green Tea (Camellia sinensis (L.) Kuntze) from Azores. Applied Sciences 11 (7439) DOI: 10.3390/app11167439.

Pan JY, Chen SL, Yang MH, Wu J, Sinkkonen J, Zou K. 2009. An update on lignans: natural products and synthesis. Natural Product Reports **26**:1251-1292.

Pan X, Niu G, Liu H. 2003. Microwave-assisted extraction of tea polyphenols and tea caffeine from green tea leaves. Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification **42**:129-133.

Panda H. 2016. The Complete Book on Cultivation and Manufacture of Tea. Asia Pacific Business Press Inc, New Delhi.

Parmar N, Rawat M, Kumar J V. 2012. Camellia sinensis (Green Tea): A Review. Global Journal of Pharmacology **6**:52-59.

Pekal A, Drozdz P, Pyrzynska K. 2012. Comparison of the Antioxidant Properties of Commonly Consumed Commercial Teas. International Journal of Food Properties **15**:1101-1109.

Peng C et al. 2014. Biology of Aging and Role of Dietary Antioxidants. BioMed Research International **2014**:1-13.

Pereira D, Valentão P, Pereira J, Andrade P. 2009. Phenolics: From Chemistry to Biology. Molecules **14**:2202-2211.

Permana DN, Lajis H, Abas F, Ghafar Othman A, Ahmad R, Kitajama M, Takayama H, Aimi N. 2003. Antioxidative Constituents of Hedyotis diffusa Willd. Natural Product Sciences 9:7-9.

Perva-Uzunalić A, Škerget M, Knez Ž, Weinreich B, Otto F, Grüner S. 2006. Extraction of active ingredients from green tea (Camellia sinensis): Extraction efficiency of major catechins and caffeine. Food Chemistry **96**:597-605.

Pittler MH, Ernst E. 2004. Dietary supplements for body-weight reduction: a systematic review. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition **79**:529-536.

Poswal FS, Russell G, Mackonochie M, MacLennan E, Adukwu EC, Rolfe V. 2019. Herbal Teas and their Health Benefits: A Scoping Review. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition **74**:266-276.

Poumorad F, Hosseinimehr SJ, Shahabimajd N.2006. Antioxidant activity, phenol, and flavonoid contents of some selected Iranian medical plants. African Journal of Biotechnology **5** (**11**):1142-1145.

Prior RL, Wu X, Schaich K. 2005. Standardized Methods for the Determination of Antioxidant Capacity and Phenolics in Foods and Dietary Supplements. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **53**:4290-4302.

Qi Y, Chin K L, Malekian F, Berhane M, Gager J. 2005. Biological characteristics, nutritional and medicinal value of roselle, Hibiscus sabdariffa. Circular-urban forestry natural resources and environment **604**:1-2.

Raal A, Volmer D, Sõukand R, Hratkevitš S, Kalle R, Thomas PG. 2013. Complementary Treatment of the Common Cold and Flu with Medicinal Plants–Results from Two Samples of Pharmacy Customers in Estonia. PLoS ONE 8 (58642) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058642.

Raghunath S, Budaraju S, Gharibzahedi S M T, Koubaa M, Roohinejad S, Mallikarjunan K. 2023. Processing technologies for the extraction of value-added bioactive compounds from tea. Food Engineering Reviews **15**:276-308.

Rajbhar K, Dawda H, Mukundan U. 2015. Tea Polyphenols for Skin Care. Research Journal of Topical and Cosmetic Sciences **6:**1-6.

Rammohan A, Zyryanov GV, Bhagath YB, Manjula K. 2023. Antioxidants: Structure-activity of plant polyphenolics. In Vitamins and Hormones. **121**:395-411.

Randhir R, Kwon Y-I, Shetty K. 2008. Effect of thermal processing on phenolics, antioxidant activity and health-relevant functionality of select grain sprouts and seedlings. Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies 9:355-364.

Randjelovic S, Kostic D, Zarubica A, Mitic S, Mitic M. 2013. The correlation of metal content in medicinal plants and their water extracts. Chemical Industry **67**:585-591.

Rivero RM, Ruiz JM, García PC, López-Lefebre LR, Sánchez E, Romero L. 2001. Resistance to cold and heat stress: accumulation of phenolic compounds in tomato and watermelon plants. Plant Science **160**:315-321.

Rodrigues de Queiroz A et al. 2023. The effects of exogenously applied antioxidants on plant growth and resilience. Phytochemistry Reviews **22**:407-447.

Roshanak S, Rahimmalek M, Goli SAH. 2016. Evaluation of seven different drying treatments in respect to total flavonoid, phenolic, vitamin C content, chlorophyll, antioxidant activity and color of green tea (Camellia sinensis or C. assamica) leaves. Journal of Food Science and Technology **53**:721-729.

Rostami H, Gharibzahedi SMT. 2017. Cellulase-assisted extraction of polysaccharides from Malva sylvestris: Process optimization and potential functionalities. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules **101**:196-206.

Ruiz HA et al. 2021. Severity factor kinetic model as a strategic parameter of hydrothermal processing (steam explosion and liquid hot water) for biomass fractionation under biorefinery concept. Bioresource Technology 342 (125961) DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125961.

Saito ST, Gosmann G, Saffi J, Presser M, Richter MF, Bergold AM. 2007. Characterization of the Constituents and Antioxidant Activity of Brazilian Green Tea (Camellia sinensis var. assamica IAC-259 Cultivar) Extracts. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **55**:9409-9414.

Sakakibara H, Honda Y, Nakagawa S, Ashida H, Kanazawa K. 2003. Simultaneous Determination of All Polyphenols in Vegetables, Fruits, and Teas. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **51**:571-581.

Samanta S. 2022. Potential Bioactive Components and Health Promotional Benefits of Tea (*Camellia sinensis*). Journal of the American Nutrition Association **41**:65-93.

Samuni Y, Goldstein S, Dean OM, Berk M. 2013. The chemistry and biological activities of N-acetylcysteine. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects **1830**:4117-4129.

Sang S, Lambert JD, Ho CT, Yang CS. 2011. The chemistry and biotransformation of tea constituents. Pharmacological Research **64**:87-99.

Scarano A, Chieppa M, Santino A. 2018. Looking at Flavonoid Biodiversity in Horticultural Crops: A Colored Mine with Nutritional Benefits. Plants 7 (98) DOI: 10.3390/plants7040098.

Sharangi AB. 2009. Medicinal and therapeutic potentialities of tea (Camellia sinensis L.) – A review. Food Research International **42**:529-535.

Sharma A, Shahzad B, Rehman A, Bhardwaj R, Landi M, Zheng B. 2019. Response of Phenylpropanoid Pathway and the Role of Polyphenols in Plants under Abiotic Stress. Molecules 24 (2452) DOI: 10.3390/molecules24132452.

Sharma OP, Bhat TK. 2009. DPPH antioxidant assay revisited. Food Chemistry 113:1202–1205.

Sharma P, Jha AB, Dubey RS, Pessarakli M. 2012. Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanism in Plants under Stressful Conditions. Journal of Botany **2012**:1-26.

Sharma US, Kumar A. 2011. In vitro antioxidant activity of Rubus ellipticus fruits. Journal of Advanced Pharmaceutical Technology & Research 2:47-50.

Shimizu N, Ushiyama T, Itoh T. 2019. The Hydrolysis Mechanism of Inulin and Its Hydrolysate in the Reaction Field by the Hot Compressed Water. Environment Control in Biology **57**:87-92.

Sies H. 2018. On the history of oxidative stress: Concept and some aspects of current development. Current Opinion in Toxicology **7**:122-126.

Silva E, Rogez H, Larondelle Y. 2007. Optimization of extraction of phenolics from Inga edulis leaves using response surface methodology. Separation and Purification Technology **55**:381-387.

Singhal K, Raj N, Gupta K, Singh S. 2017. Probable benefits of green tea with genetic implications. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology **21**:107-114.

Singleton VL, Orthofer R, Lamuela-Raventós RM. 1999. [14] Analysis of total phenols and other oxidation substrates and antioxidants by means of folin-ciocalteu reagent. Methods in Enzymology **299**:152–178.

Sirerol JA, Rodríguez ML, Mena S, Asensi MA, Estrela JM, Ortega AL. 2016. Role of Natural Stilbenes in the Prevention of Cancer. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity **2016**:1-15. Small E, Catling PM. 2001. Blossoming treasures of biodiversity. Biodiversity **2**:26-27.

Soukand R et al. 2013. Plants used for making recreational tea in Europe: a review based on specific research sites. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine 9:1-13.

Sõukand R, Kalle R. 2012. The use of teetimed in Estonia, 1880s–1990s. Appetite **59**:523-530.

Studzińska-Sroka E, Galanty A, Gościniak A, Wieczorek M, Kłaput M, Dudek-Makuch M, Cielecka-Piontek J. 2021. Herbal Infusions as a Valuable Functional Food. Nutrients 13 (4051) DOI: 10.3390/nu13114051.

Sun H, Ge X, Lv Y, Wang A. 2012. Application of accelerated solvent extraction in the analysis of organic contaminants, bioactive and nutritional compounds in food and feed. Journal of Chromatography **1237**:1-23.

Sun T, Yuan H, Cao H, Yazdani M, Tadmor Y, Li L. 2018. Carotenoid Metabolism in Plants: The Role of Plastids. Molecular Plant **11**:58-74.

Suzuki S, Umezawa T. 2007. Biosynthesis of lignans and norlignans. Journal of Wood Science **53**:273-284.

Matsunaga TF, Rakocevic M, Brancher JD. 2014. Modeling the 3D structure and rhythmic growth responses to environment in dioecious yerba-mate. Ecological Modelling **290**:34-44.

Tamang JP. 2012. Handbook of plant-based fermented food and beverage technology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA.

Tariq AL, Nirjantha D, Reyaz AL. 2013. Antimicrobial activity of Camellia sinensis leaves against gram positive and gram-negative bacteria. World Research Journal of Pharmaceutical Research. 1:1-4.

Mahmood T, Naveed A, Barkat AK. 2010. The morphology, characteristics, and medicinal properties of Camellia sinensis tea. Journal of Medicinal Plants Research 4:2028-2033.

Teo CC, Tan SN, Yong JWH, Hew CS, Ong ES. 2010. Pressurized hot water extraction (PHWE). Journal of chromatography A **1217**:2484–2494.

Toker G, Aslan M, Yeşilada E, Memişoğlu M, Ito S. 2001. Comparative evaluation of the flavonoid content in officinal Tiliae flos and Turkish lime species for quality assessment. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis **26**:111-121.

Tolun AA, Zhang H, Il'yasova D, Sztáray J, Young SP, Millington DS. 2010. Allantoin in human urine quantified by ultra-performance liquid chromatography—tandem mass spectrometry. Analytical Biochemistry **402**:191-193.

Tripathi R, Gupta R, Sahu M, Srivastava D, Das A, Ambasta RK, Kumar P. 2022. Free radical biology in neurological manifestations: mechanisms to therapeutics interventions. Environmental Science and Pollution Research **29**:62160-62207.

Tsao R, Deng Z. 2004. Separation procedures for naturally occurring antioxidant phytochemicals. Journal of Chromatography B **812**:85-99.

Turkmen N, Sari F, Velioglu YS. 2006. Effects of extraction solvents on concentration and antioxidant activity of black and black mate tea polyphenols determined by ferrous tartrate and Folin–Ciocalteu methods. Food Chemistry **99**:835-841.

Unachukwu UJ, Ahmed S, Kavalier A, Lyles JT, Kennelly EJ. 2010. White and Green Teas (Camellia sinensis var. sinensis): Variation in Phenolic, Methylxanthine, and Antioxidant Profiles. Journal of Food Science **75**:835-841.

Valduga AT, Gonçalves IL, Magri E, Delalibera Finzer JR. 2019. Chemistry, pharmacology, and new trends in traditional functional and medicinal beverages. Food Research International **120**:478-503.

Van Breusegem F, Dat JF. 2006. Reactive Oxygen Species in Plant Cell Death. Plant Physiology **141**:384-390.

Van der Vossen HAM, Wessel M. Introduction. Pages 15–48 in van der Vossen HAM, Wessel M (Editors): Plant Resources of South-East Asia No 16: Stimulants. PROSEA Foundation, Bogor, Indonesia. Available from https://www.prota4u.org/prosea/ (Accessed October 2022).

Vidhya A, Renjugopal V, Indira M. 2013. Impact of thiamine supplementation in the reversal of ethanol induced toxicity in rats. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol **57**:406-17.

Wang F, Li Y, Zhang YJ, Zhou Y, Li S, Li HB. 2016. Natural Products for the Prevention and Treatment of Hangovers and Alcohol Use Disorder. Molecules 21 (64) DOI: 10.3390/molecules21010064.

Winkel-Shirley B. 2002. Biosynthesis of flavonoids and effects of stress. Current Opinion in Plant Biology **5**:218-223.

Weisburger JH, Comer J. 2000. Tea. In The Cambridge world history of food. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Wojtunik-Kulesza KA, Oniszczuk A, Oniszczuk T, Waksmundzka-Hajnos M. 2016. The influence of common free radicals and antioxidants on development of Alzheimer's disease. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy **78**:39-49.

Wu HC, Chen HM, Shiau CY. 2003. Free amino acids and peptides as related to antioxidant properties in protein hydrolysates of mackerel (Scomber austriasicus). Food Research International **36**:949-957.

Wu ZY, Raven PH, DY Hong. 2007. Flora of China. Missouri Botanical Garden Press, Beijing.

Xia EH, Tong W, Wu Q, Wei S, Zhao J, Zhang ZZ, Wei CL, Wan XC. 2020. Tea plant genomics: achievements, challenges and perspectives. Horticulture Research 7:1-19.

Xu YQ, Zou C, Gao Y, Chen JX, Wang F, Chen GS, Yin JF. 2017. Effect of the type of brewing water on the chemical composition, sensory quality and antioxidant capacity of Chinese teas. Food Chemistry **236**:142-151.

Yachandra VK, Sauer K, Klein MP. 1996. Manganese Cluster in Photosynthesis: Where Plants Oxidize Water to Dioxygen. Chemical Reviews **96**:2927-2950.

Yan Z, Zhong Y, Duan Y, Chen Q, Li F. 2020. Antioxidant mechanism of tea polyphenols and its impact on health benefits. Animal Nutrition **6**:115-123.

Yao J, Liu H, Ma C, Pu L, Yang W, Lei Z. 2022. A Review on the Extraction, Bioactivity, and Application of Tea Polysaccharides. Molecules 27 (4679) DOI: 10.3390/molecules27154679.

Yao L, Liu X, Jiang Y, Caffin N, D'Arcy B, Singanusong R, Datta N, Xu Y. 2006. Compositional analysis of teas from Australian supermarkets. Food Chemistry **94**:115-122.

Ye Q, Ren S, Huang H, Duan G, Liu K, Liu JB. 2020. Fluorescent and Colorimetric Sensors Based on the Oxidation of o-Phenylenediamine. ACS Omega **5**:20698-20706.

Zhang J, Wen C, Zhang H, Duan Y, Ma H. 2020. Recent advances in the extraction of bioactive compounds with subcritical water: A review. Trends in Food Science & Technology **95**:183-195.

Zhang J, Wolf B. 2019. Physico-Chemical Properties of Sugar Beet Pectin-Sodium Caseinate Conjugates via Different Interaction Mechanisms. Foods 8 (192) DOI: 10.3390/foods8060192.

Zhou Y Q, Zhang Q W, Li S L, Yin Z Q, Zhang X Q, Ye W C. 2012. Quality evaluation of semen oroxyli through simultaneous quantification of 13 components by high performance liquid chromatography. Current Pharmaceutical Analysis **8**:206-213.

Zhou Y, Zheng J, Li S, Zhou T, Zhang P, Li HB. 2016. Alcoholic Beverage Consumption and Chronic Diseases. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 13 (522) DOI: 10.3390/ijerph13060522.

Zielinski AAF, Haminiuk CWI, Beta T. 2016. Multi-response optimization of phenolic antioxidants from white tea (Camellia sinensis L. Kuntze) and their identification by LC–DAD–Q-TOF–MS/MS. LWT - Food Science and Technology **65**:897-907.

Žitňanová I, Korytár P, Aruoma OI, Šustrová M, Garaiová I, Muchová J, Kalnovičová T, Pueschel S, Ďuračková Z. 2004. Uric acid and allantoin levels in Down syndrome: antioxidant oxidative stress mechanisms? Clinica Chimica Acta **341**:139-146.

Zullaikah S, Saputra I, Prihandini G, Rachimoellah M. 2015. Subcritical Water Extraction of Phenolic Compounds from Moringa Oleifera Leaf. IPTEK Journal of Proceedings Series, **1:**571-574.

Zuo AR, Dong HH, Yu YY, Shu QL, Zheng LX, Yu XY, Cao SW. 2018. The antityrosinase and antioxidant activities of flavonoids dominated by the number and location of phenolic hydroxyl groups. Chinese Medicine **13**:1-12.

Zuo Y, Chen H, Deng Y.2022. Simultaneous determination of catechins, caffeine and gallic acids in green, Oolong, black and pu-erh teas using HPLC with a photodiode array detector. Talanta **57**:307-316.